HINDERING HEALTH EQUITY: OPPRESSION AND WHITENESS PERVADE TRAUMA, SUBSTANCE USE, AND THERAPY

By

Mallet R. Reid

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to
Michigan State University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements
for the degree of

Psychology-Doctor of Philosophy

2024

ABSTRACT

Co-occurring posttraumatic stress disorder and substance use disorder (PTSD/SUD) is a serious public health issue affecting millions. Compared to White people, people of color endure more chronic and severe cases of PTSD/SUD due to their heightened exposure to common risk factors (i.e., interpersonal violence) and to unique risk factors (i.e., racial discrimination) associated with the disorder. Despite this, they are significantly and systematically underrepresented in PTSD/SUD clinical research. There is also a lack of research on culturally tailored treatments for people of color and on addressing their unique issues. Consequently, current treatments may not meet their needs, which may explain their high treatment dissatisfaction and dropout rates. This qualitative study sought to address this gap by determining whether and how race and gender matters are relevant to PTSD/SUD and how clinics and clinicians' handling of these matters impact people of color's therapeutic experience. We found that oppression significantly contributes to PTSD/SUD incidence, exposure to discrimination exacerbates PTSD/SUD symptoms, and people of color wanted to address these issues in therapy. We also found that people of color seldom noted visible representation of staff of color in clinics and encountered discrimination from clinic staff. This made them feel unwelcome in clinics. Further, when people of color attempted to address matters of oppression and discrimination in therapy, clinicians invalidated their experiences or were underprepared to address them. This ruptured the client-therapist therapeutic alliance and made people of color either seek a new therapist or terminate treatment altogether. Our findings demonstrate the necessity of fostering a health equity focus in PTSD/SUD research so clinics and clinicians can address matters of oppression and discrimination appropriately.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

To my parents, who have shown me that it is possible to change lives and make the world a better place through open-mindedness, forgiveness, and love. To my wife, who is a force of unyielding love, laughter, and courage that has transformed me into who I am today. To NiCole, whose guidance, generosity, and ferocious intellect was the burning light that showed me the way. To Natoshia, whose mentorship and unassailable friendship was the gentle reminder that I am not alone on this journey. Finally, to Amy and Ignacio, whose trust in me and conviction to my success helped to make my dreams come true.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Theoretical Framework: Feminist Standpoint Epistemology	3
Brief Detail of PTSD/SUD and PTSD/SUD Health Disparities	9
Standpoint Critique of PTSD/SUD Research	13
Potential Consequences of a Minimal Focus on Oppressed Groups in PTSD/SUD Research	15
A Note on Qualitative Methods as This Study's Approach	18
Current Study	19
Method	20
Analysis	25
Saturation	27
Validity	28
Ethics and Safety	30
Results	31
Whiteness Structures Therapeutic Engagements	40
Discussion	48
Limitations and Future Directions	55
Conclusion	58
REFERENCES	59

Introduction

It is a peculiar sensation, this double-consciousness, this sense of always looking at one's self through the eyes of others, of measuring one's soul by the tape of a world that looks on in amused contempt and pity. One ever feels [their] two-ness.

W.E.B. Dubois (1911, 1997, pg. 38)

Although the exact prevalence estimates are unknown, some researchers postulate that Indigenous, Black, and Latine¹ people have similar, if not higher, rates of co-occurring posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and substance use disorder (SUD) as White² people (Blanco et al., 2013; Emerson et al., 2017; Reid & Buchanan, 2024b). Researchers have also found that compared to White people, racially oppressed groups are exposed to higher rates of risk factors for this disorder, including adverse childhood experiences, interpersonal violence, and poverty (Kessler et al., 2014; Roberts et al., 2011). Further, they are exposed to unique risk factors associated with co-occurring PTSD and SUD (herein PTSD/SUD), including racial discrimination and historical trauma (Alegría et al., 2013; Bird et al., 2021; Gone et al., 2019; Hall-Clark et al., 2016). Lastly, scholars have found that oppressed groups³ face a disproportionate negative burden of PTSD/SUD compared to White people, including a more severe and chronic course of symptoms, multimorbid physical conditions, homelessness, and early mortality (Blanco et al., 2013; McGuire & Miranda, 2008; Simpson et al., 2019).

Despite these findings, racially oppressed groups are significantly and systematically under-included in PTSD/SUD clinical studies, and researchers rarely construct and test culturally

¹ The Spanish language traditionally assigns gender to nouns. My use of "Latine" is an attempt to adopt the use of a gender-neutral term within the grammatical structure of the Spanish language.

² We have intentionally used lower case when referring to the construct "whiteness," which is not a race but a phenomena linked to but not solely predicated on race. In contrast, we use upper case describing a racial/ethnic group (e.g., "White" "Black").

³ When using the term "oppressed groups," I am primarily referencing men and women of color. Indeed, statements and conclusions may be applicable to other traditionally marginalized groups (e.g., LGBTQ+). Yet, little PTSD/SUD research to date focuses on these groups; therefore, the scholarship organized into my introduction section is focused on people of color.

appropriate interventions and have not developed and tested treatments for these groups' unique risk factors (Reid & Buchanan, 2024a, 2024b). Rather, White people comprise nearly 60% of those studied in PTSD/SUD research despite potentially only comprising 40% of diagnostic cases, and researchers mostly study the traumas that are primarily experienced by White men (e.g., combat trauma; Simpson et al., 2019; Table 1). This may explain why people of color are more likely to terminate treatment early and suffer from PTSD/SUD longer than White people (Lester et al., 2010).

Given the significant lack of research attention to oppressed groups' PTSD/SUD, this qualitative study established the importance of and need for racial/gender-appropriate treatment. The research questions for this study were: a) how are matters of race and gender relevant to PTSD/SUD; b) how does the clinic and clinician's handling of race and gender concerns impact the therapeutic experience of oppressed groups? This study's purpose was to highlight the importance of ensuring PTSD/SUD research and clinical treatment is relevant to oppressed groups' needs. I used semi-structured qualitative interviews to answer this study's questions and interviewed twenty-three people across four states. Finally, feminist standpoint theory framed this study. This framework asserts that oppressed groups experience different and unique life circumstances that are often ignored in knowledge production and that if scholarship is to apply to them, it must be framed by and for them. Michigan State University's Institutional Review Board approved this study (IRB00009375; Appendix C).

Theoretical Framework: Feminist Standpoint Epistemology

Feminist standpoint epistemology (also known as standpoint theory) emerged from various fields as a critique of White men's dominance over science and how they shaped science in ways that prioritize their interests and neglect the needs of other groups, particularly those oppressed by race and gender (Collins, 1986; Harding, 1991; Hooks, 1989; Intemann, 2010; Toole, 2021). Standpoint theory has several fundamental propositions (Harding, 1991; Intemann, 2010): a) the situated knowledge thesis- people's experiences and access to knowledge depend on their positioning on a social gradient and that White men's situatedness dominates knowledge production; b) the thesis of epistemic advantage- oppressed groups have experiences and access to knowledge based on those experiences that are peripheralized in science; and c) the need for generating knowledge from oppressed people's lives to enhance the objectivity and applicability of science to all groups. I discuss each below.

Situated Knowledge Thesis

All Knowledge Production is Socially Situated

Structural oppression (e.g., racism and sexism) stratifies different groups into different social positions (e.g., White people are dominantly situated, and people of color are subordinately situated; Hartsock, 1983; Delgado, 2023). Stratification influences people's living conditions, experiences, constraints, and opportunities (Harding, 1992, 2004). Consequently, different groups have different and sometimes unique life experiences. For example, a society structured by patriarchy stratifies women into a subordinate position to men (Hunnicutt, 2009; Krahé, 2018). Patriarchal stratification increases women's risk of gender-based violence (Homan, 2019) because patriarchy facilitates male power and privilege over women and a permissive social attitude toward violence against women (Krahé, 2018; Mesok, 2016). To illustrate, a study

of victimization rates of women in 16 countries showed that the more patriarchal a country's systems were, the higher women's victimization rates were (Archer, 2006). Women's subordinate situatedness means they must navigate unique threats that men do not.

Second, research shows the questions investigators ask, areas of investigation they pursue, and conclusions they draw can differ depending on their race and gender, meaning researcher situatedness informs research questions and answers (Collins, 1986; Hofstra et al., 2020). Indeed, this is not always the case, and one can conduct research from an alternative situatedness. Yet, the position we most likely start from reflects our situatedness (Sprague, 2016). Thus, the makeup of scientific knowledge reflects the situatedness of those conducting science (Zuberi & Bonilla-Silva, 2008), and most researchers are White men—the most privileged group in the U.S. (Docter-Loeb, 2023; Kena et al., 2016). White men dominate publications in top academic journals (Tanne, 2022). White men's research is more frequently cited than other groups (Kozlowski et al., 2022). White men are more likely to be included in research than others (Knepper & McLeod, 2018). Lastly, White men are more likely to hold positions as journal editors and reviewers (Buchanan et al., 2021). This issue applies to all science, including psychology (Roberts et al., 2020). This is problematic because White men's privileged situatedness (Hartsock, 2019; Wylie, 2012) dominates research, meaning the experiences of others are peripheralized in science (Collins, 2020).

The Thesis of Epistemic Advantage

This thesis argues that marginalized people can recognize issues of power and oppression more readily than those in privileged positions (Internann, 2010). According to standpoint theorist Patricia Hill Collins, epistemic advantage stems from the "insider-outsider" positionality marginalized group members typically occupy (Collins, 1986). According to Collins,

marginalized group members must understand and navigate the assumptions constituting the dominant group's worldviews, thereby learning to act as insiders. Simultaneously, they often have experiences that conflict with that of dominant groups, revealing the disjuncture between oppressed and privileged group experiences and reflecting their outsider positionality. This disjuncture produces an epistemic advantage for oppressed groups by highlighting instances where the dominant group's experiences and knowledge differ from those of oppressed groups. Therefore, the epistemic advantage of marginalized group members is identifying limitations or problems with the dominant groups' background assumptions and scientific norms.

The "God Trick"

The situatedness of knowledge production is seldom acknowledged in mainstream science (Sprague, 2016). Often, researchers understand science to be an enterprise of impartiality. In fact, some argue that centering oppressed groups' perspectives in science hampers objectivity by introducing values into a "value-free" enterprise (Landau, 2008). However, standpoint theorists argue that all science is value-oriented, and that recognizing values in knowledge production *strengthens* objectivity. According to standpoint theorist Donna Haraway, claims of impartiality in knowledge production are "god trick" claims—statements that only a god who could see everything from above could make (Haraway, 1988). Haraway asserts that researchers claiming impartiality obscure their subjectivity and its influence on their work.

Moreover, claims of value-neutrality make a project *appear* less partial than projects that explicitly link values with knowledge production. Because value-neutral knowledge claims appear less partial, they are deemed more objective. Consequently, the knowledge produced from "impartial" projects and the situatedness informing them are centered and made authoritative.

This creates power differences across scientific domains that superordinate "impartial" knowledge and peripheralize explicit values-driven knowledge projects (Rolin, 2009).

Most standpoint projects focus on producing knowledge with and for marginalized groups and acknowledge the values woven into these projects (Harding, 1991). Consequently, standpoint projects are peripheralized (Pereira, 2017); therefore, knowledge for marginalized groups is obscured (Collins, 1990; Cowen, 2019). In contrast, because traditional research approaches are centered and build knowledge from/on privileged groups without acknowledging the values influencing these projects, the preponderance of centered and authoritative knowledge pertains to privileged people's situatedness (Fricker, 2007; Hartsock, 1983; Settles et al., 2021).

The consequence of this is that knowledge about and for marginalized groups is less readily available. This lack of availability creates a gap in our shared knowledge about marginalized groups and their experiences, strengths, and needs (Dotson, 2014). Additionally, this issue disadvantages researchers' abilities to make sense of marginalized people's lives and/or assist them with their unique challenges (Fricker, 2007). For example, social science has little to say about how LGBTQ+ people navigate substance addiction recovery (Aromin, 2016). This lack of knowledge makes it difficult to determine how treatments affect LGTQ+ people and how clinicians can help them (Williams & Fish, 2020).

All knowledge is situated and shaped by social, cultural, and historical contexts. There is no such thing as a knowledge claim separated from one's particular social location. Instead, all theories are value-laden, all methods are theory-laden, and all research results are methodology-laden (Longino, 2010; Longino, 1989). Therefore, all research efforts are values-driven (Longino, 1989; Sprague, 2016). Claims of value-neutrality hide this reality, obscure knowledge by and for those who are marginalized, and weaken the objectivity of science.

Strong Objectivity

Mainstream perspectives of objectivity associate it with value-neutrality (Harding, 1992). Standpoint theorists disagree. According to standpoint epistemology, objectivity exists on a continuum from "weaker" objectivity to "stronger" objectivity (Harding, 1992). A project has "stronger" objectivity when a researcher: a) explicitly acknowledges their positionality's influence on knowledge production; b) acknowledges their situatedness relevant to their interpretation of data (known as reflexivity); and c) works to incorporate knowledge for the oppressed into the mainstream (Harding, 1992; Intemann, 2010). Overall, a researcher's objectivity is strengthened or weakened depending on the degree to which each factor is present. Strong objectivity challenges traditional objectivity by acknowledging the relationship between positionality, reflexivity, and the inclusion/exclusion of certain groups in research. Critically examining these influences enables investigators to reveal their subjectivity and counteract power imbalances in knowledge production.

Starting Knowledge-Generation from the Lives of the Oppressed

Traditional research studies the oppressed as objects or subjects. Standpoint theorists argue that researchers must focus on building insights and theories directly from the lives of the oppressed to prioritize the knowledge and experiences of oppressed groups (Harding, 1991, 2006; Harding, 1986). Beginning research from oppressed people's lives means centering marginalized perspectives and experiences (Rolin, 2009). In practice, this approach involves actively seeking out and engaging with the stories and experiences of the oppressed—conducting interviews, using oral histories, or other methods that prioritize their perspectives. By doing so, standpoint epistemology aims to challenge and broaden traditional ways of knowing, generate more critical knowledge, and bring about social change.

Overall, standpoint epistemology emphasizes that all scientific knowledge is partial (Shulman, 1994). When the bulk of knowledge is produced from and supervised by one group, we can expect knowledge to reflect that group's partiality. Further, when that group is the dominantly situated one, "one can expect that... in systems of domination, the vision available to the rulers will be both partial and perverse" (Hartsock, 1983, pg. 285). Moreover, we can expect that knowledge for the oppressed remains absent or shrouded from the wellspring of scientific knowledge. Standpoint theory emphasizes the importance of centering the perspectives of the oppressed in research to challenge dominant knowledge systems and advance knowledge.

Brief Detail of PTSD/SUD and PTSD/SUD Health Disparities

Prevalence

Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is the most prevalent psychopathological result of exposure to a traumatic event. Traumatic events are experienced as distressing and overwhelming and surpass the individual's ability to cope or integrate the emotions involved with that experience (Shalev et al., 2017). Indeed, not all people who are exposed to a traumatic event will develop PTSD; however, those who do subsequently endure a combination of biological, psychological, and social sequelae of issues stemming from the traumatic event (Shalev et al., 2017). Substance use disorder (SUD) is another common chronic and debilitating disorder and is the third leading cause of death in the U.S. (National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism [NIAAA], 2020). SUD contributes to a range of difficulties, including neurological changes eviscerating a person's ability to control or abstain from using a substance, loss of friends and family, homelessness, and multimorbid physical and psychological disorders (Grant et al., 2015).

These disorders are two of the most common mental health disorders in the U.S. (Back & Jones, 2018) and despite several diagnostic criteria changes for each over the last several decades, they continue to be highly prevalent and co-occurring, meaning someone with one disorder is at great risk of experiencing the other (Smith & Cottler, 2018). In the U.S., those with PTSD (9% of the population) are 1.5 times more likely to meet SUD criteria, and 58% of people with PTSD have a co-occurring SUD (Goldstein et al., 2016; Simpson et al., 2019). Those with an SUD diagnosis (7.7%) have 1.3 higher odds of having PTSD than those without (Grant et al., 2015). In total, a national epidemiological survey estimates that over six million US adults experience PTSD/SUD (Simpson et al., 2019). Those with PTSD/SUD have worse health outcomes than those with only PTSD or SUD, including greater social and psychiatric

impairment, higher rates of suicidal ideation and suicide attempts, homelessness, incarceration, and a higher magnitude of disabling comorbid physical and psychological disorders contributing to early mortality (Simpson et al., 2019).

Researchers have recently found that the prevalence of PTSD/SUD differs across racial/ethnic groups, but study results vary, and there is scant literature on the topic. Some studies estimate that Indigenous and Black people have the highest prevalence rates of PTSD/SUD, and White and Latine people have similar rates to one another (Blanco et al., 2013), whereas others report that prevalence is highest among White people (Breslau et al., 2003). Not only are there limited studies with conflicting evidence, but most studies using national data either do not report prevalence by race/ethnicity or group all people of color into a category called "racial minority" and compare their prevalence to White people (e.g., Simpson et al., 2019). Moreover, no studies report prevalence by race and gender. Consequently, it is difficult to estimate the prevalence of PTSD/SUD by race x gender groups (such as Black men or Asian women).

Despite these limitations, one can hypothesize that Indigenous, Black, and Latine people have PTSD/SUD rates equal to or higher than those of White people by drawing from PTSD and SUD prevalence data and a recognition of the comorbid nature of these disorders. Black, Latine, and Indigenous men and women have higher rates of PTSD than White men and women (Goldstein et al., 2016). Indigenous men and women have the highest rates of SUD (Center for Behavioral Health Statistics Quality [SAMHSA], 2021), and the prevalence of SUD across Black, Latine, and White men and women differs depending on the substance but is roughly equivalent to White men and women's prevalence rates (SAMHSA, 2021). Given these data, it is probable that people of color and White people have at least similar PTSD/SUD prevalence rates.

Risk Factors and Treatment Disparities

The U.S. is an inegalitarian nation-state structured by white supremacy, and this trenchant ideology has constructed racial stratification and inequality throughout the U.S., causing people of color to experience an onslaught of harm (Beliso-De Jesús & Pierre, 2020; Haeny et al., 2021). White supremacy has been indelibly linked to the trauma and addiction challenges people of color face by exposing them to higher rates of poverty and neighborhood disorder and the attendant issues of these challenges (e.g., violent victimization). Additionally, it has been linked to people of color's exposure to forms of discrimination that White people seldom experience and a lack of access to beneficial social resources that could address these challenges (Farahmand et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2023). For instance, because of the impoverishment and neighborhood disorder levied onto Indigenous, Black, and Latine people and the stressors accompanying these issues, they are more likely than White people to be exposed to interpersonal violence like child abuse and physical assault (Roberts et al., 2011), and PTSD is linked with these traumas more than any other (Kessler et al., 2014; Yehuda, 2002). Therefore, it is no surprise that Indigenous, Black, and Latine people have higher rates of PTSD and that this PTSD is most often due to interpersonal violence (Roberts et al., 2011; Goldstein et al., 2016).

People of color also face *unique* PTSD and SUD risk factors (Farahmand et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2023). To illustrate, Black people's chronic exposure to racial discrimination via overt acts of racism and/or microaggressions produces symptoms sufficient to meet the criteria for PTSD and enhances their risk for, and chronicity of, SUD (Bird et al., 2021; Blume et al., 2012; Desalu et al., 2019). Further, results from a longitudinal study of Black and Latine people showed that exposure to racial discrimination explains a significant amount of the variance contributing to one's diagnostic status for PTSD (Sibrava et al., 2019). This study also found that

those experiencing racial discrimination have lower levels of symptom relief and more chronic PTSD *despite* receiving treatment. Additionally, research shows that historical, intergenerational trauma has elevated oppressed groups' genetic and social risks for the incidence and chronicity of PTSD and SUD (Gone et al., 2019; Skewes & Blume, 2019).

In sum, in comparison to White people, racially oppressed groups may have a higher or similar prevalence of PTSD/SUD. Moreover, they face a disproportionate negative burden of PTSD/SUD (Blanco et al., 2013). Therefore, using standpoint epistemology and drawing from an umbrella review (a review of research findings from systematic reviews and meta-analyses) of 74 PTSD/SUD studies (Reid & Buchanan, 2024), I will demonstrate that PTSD/SUD research is structured by whiteness, and clinical guidance for treating marginalized groups is exceedingly limited, placing marginalized groups at risk for experiencing discrimination in treatment.

Standpoint Critique of PTSD/SUD Research

Who is included in PTSD/SUD Studies

In our review of 74 studies across eight systematic and meta-analytic reviews of PTSD/SUD, the published clinical research to date included 52 randomized controlled trials, eight pilot studies, eight published protocol and feasibility studies, seven quasi-experimental studies, and one chart review (see Appendix A for our umbrella review methods, Reid & Buchanan, 2024). The racial composition of the 74 studies included ~56% White people, ~25% Black, ~9% Latine, 4% multiracial/other, ~2% American Indian/Alaska Native, and ~1% Asian participants (Figure 1, Table 1). None of the studies reported demographics by race and gender. These results reveal that most research findings about the clinical effectiveness of PTSD/SUD treatments are built from the experiences and inclusion of White people. Drawing from standpoint theory, because most research is built from White people, the majority of PTSD/SUD knowledge is likely applicable to White people's situatedness. Therefore, PTSD/SUD research is structured by whiteness (a state of normalized White racial domination; Lund, 2022; Mura, 2022) and can be rendered visible by the extent to which White people and their experiences are emphasized over people of color (Mura, 2022; Sue & Spanierman, 2020). To estimate this, one must explore the PTSD/SUD issues investigated by research and identify the extent to scholars make efforts to generate knowledge that is applicable to oppressed groups needs.

What Do PTSD/SUD Studies Examine

Combat Trauma

Although military sexual trauma is far more common and more likely among women (Lofgreen et al., 2017), most of the research that identifies a qualifying trauma focuses on military combat trauma. White men constitute the majority demographic in the military (Amaral et al., 2018) and are the majority of people engaged in military combat (Patten & Parker, 2011). Thus, most PTSD/SUD research studies a trauma that White men most often experience (Roberts et al., 2011). It is problematic that PTSD/SUD research almost exclusively focuses on trauma experienced by White men. Doing so centers clinical knowledge on White men and peripheralizes knowledge by and for others.

Only One Culturally Adapted Study and Zero Race-Specific Studies

Finally, only one study tested a culturally adapted treatment for PTSD/SUD (Pearson et al., 2019), and none of the studies tested treatments specifically for the experiences and needs of racially oppressed groups (e.g., racial discrimination). Yet, it was common for researchers to tailor interventions to the needs of women and veterans, indicating an openness to tailoring interventions to special populations' needs. Further, and indicative of the white-situatedness of PTSD/SUD research, ~15% of studies with a racially diverse sample only reported demographics for White participants and did not report other races' demographic details. Two study's authors composed a footnote declaring that the remaining participants were "minorities" but did not state which people of color were represented. Authors of racially diverse studies always reported White demographics and never relegated White people to a footnote, illustrating the pervasive norm of whiteness in this research field.

Study Recruitment Primarily Occurs in Predominately White Locales

Over 80% of PTSD/SUD studies recruited participants from areas where White people are the majority demographic (Reid & Buchanan, 2024b). Additionally, researchers recruited participants from locations where White people predominately seek treatment, including recruiting from substance use clinics 42% of the time, even though racially oppressed groups are more likely to seek and receive PTSD/SUD services from hospitals or outpatient clinics (Simpson, 2020). Another 42% of studies recruited participants from veteran clinics, where White men are more likely to seek care from veteran clinics than other groups (National Library Of Medicine, 2020). By primarily recruiting participants in White locales, researchers are increasing the odds of situating whiteness in PTSD/SUD research. This indicates that the insights of PTSD/SUD research reflect the milieu of predominately White clinical settings.

Potential Consequences of a Minimal Focus on Oppressed Groups in PTSD/SUD Research Microaggressions

When whiteness is the norm in settings, people of color may be at a higher risk of experiencing various forms of microaggressions (verbal or non-verbal exchanges in which a perpetrator unknowingly or knowingly causes harm to another by slighting them because of their race, gender, or some other marginalized identity feature; Sue & Spanierman, 2020). For instance, research has found that because clinicians are often inexperienced in working with and addressing matters of racial discrimination, they are often likely to commit a microinvalidation (interpersonal interactions that exclude, negate, or nullify oppressed groups' psychological thoughts, feelings, or experiential reality) against a person of color in clinical treatment (Lee et al., 2018; Sue et al., 2007). Further, research has found that clinicians are more likely to commit microinsults (enactments of verbal or nonverbal exchanges containing subtle stereotypes,

rudeness, or insensitivity that demean a person's identity) against oppressed groups when they lack diversity training (Sue & Spanierman, 2020). Because PTSD/SUD researchers have poorly included oppressed groups in their studies, it is plausible that clinicians who address PTSD/SUD are underprepared to interact with them and address their needs. Therefore, their lack of preparedness may increase the chances that they commit microaggressions during treatment.

Environmental Macroaggressions

Environmental macroaggressions refer to institutional practices communicating demeaning, threatening, or exclusionary social cues to oppressed groups (Sue & Spanierman, 2020). They are primarily visually perpetrated and affect marginalized groups' sense of belongingness to an environment (Sue & Spanierman, 2020). Importantly, environmental macroaggressions differ from environmental microaggressions. To illustrate, if a therapist displayed a book in their office espousing racist beliefs, this constitutes an environmental microaggression because an individual's biased worldview constructs the environment. In contrast, if a clinic primarily displays images of White people or mainly employs White staff, this reflects an environmental macroaggression because an institutionally biased worldview constructs the setting. When oppressed groups are significantly under-included in research, their interests are not likely to be considered (Collins, 1986; Roberts, 2020). Therefore, it is plausible that, because PTSD/SUD scholarship has so significantly under-included oppressed groups in knowledge production, they will not have visible representation and may feel outcasted.

Overall, Indigenous, Black, and Latine populations are disproportionately exposed to PTSD/SUD risk factors like childhood trauma, interpersonal violence, and poverty, and face unique challenges like racial discrimination and historical trauma. Moreover, oppressed groups face a more severe and enduring burden of PTSD/SUD. Yet, PTSD/SUD research has

predominantly studied White people challenges, resulting in a dearth of culturally appropriate interventions and treatments addressing racially oppressed groups' needs. Consequently, when oppressed groups seek PTSD/SUD treatment, they may be at risk of enduring microaggressions, macroaggressions, or other forms of discrimination, which may explain why they have higher treatment dropout rates than White people. Given the significant lack of research into oppressed groups' experiences and treatment needs and the potential consequences of under-inclusion listed above, one must ask whether matters of race and gender are clinically meaningful in treatment and whether how matters of race and gender are handled in a clinical setting impacts one's pursuit and maintenance of clinical treatment. Doing so may indicate the importance of restructuring PTSD/SUD research to prioritize equity.

A Note on Qualitative Methods as This Study's Approach

Oppressed groups are systematically more likely to drop out of treatment (Green et al., 2020), terminate treatment early (Lester et al., 2010), and suffer from PTSD/SUD for longer durations (Sahker et al., 2020). Yet, the current, primarily quantitative approaches that PTSD/SUD scholars have taken have failed to illuminate and remediate these concerns. Thus, a qualitative approach to exploring and addressing PTSD/SUD health disparities is warranted.

Qualitative research is valuable for investigating underexplored and new phenomena because of its exploratory and inductive nature (Huberman, 2014). Qualitative methods are openended, allowing researchers to deeply explore of the experiences and perspectives of participants (Maxwell, 2012). Additionally, they are participant-centric, meaning they prioritize the perspectives and experiences of the people who are studied over the insights and hypotheses of the researcher (Maxwell, 2012). The richness of qualitative data, including narratives, quotes, and observations, provide a nuanced understanding of phenomena (Huberman, 2014).

Additionally, qualitative research is often the preferred method of feminist researchers for several reasons. First, feminists emphasize producing contextual knowledge from lived experiences, particularly from oppressed groups (Sprague, 2016). Second, feminists acknowledge the situatedness of knowledge, a practice that aligns with the principles of reflexivity in qualitative research (Lykes et al., 2018). Third, feminists use qualitative research to provide a platform for participants to share their experiences, challenging traditional power dynamics in research (Roberts, 2013). Finally, feminist research aims to challenge oppression and drawing on insight into individuals' experiences produces data to inform advocacy and policy change (Roberts, 2013). Therefore, my use of qualitative methods for this study reflects the goals of feminist research and is practically necessary to explore the issue at hand.

Current Study

Racially oppressed groups are under-included in PTSD/SUD research, and researchers have yet to investigate and address PTSD/SUD racial health disparities. Therefore, I conducted a qualitative study using semi-structured interviews with racially oppressed group members who have been diagnosed with PTSD/SUD and who have received therapy for PTSD, SUD, or PTSD/SUD in a clinical setting. This study aimed to establish the relative importance and need for culturally appropriate and race/gender-specific treatment, exploring: a) how are matters of race and gender relevant to PTSD/SUD; and b) how does the clinic and clinician's handling of race and gender matters impact the therapeutic experience of oppressed groups?

Method

Sample

I leveraged pre-existing relationships with community partners at a community mental health clinic in Michigan, a trauma treatment center in New Mexico, a hospital-affiliated outpatient behavioral health center in Georgia, and a community health clinic in California to recruit participants for this study. I picked these settings because they allowed for wide recruitment from different parts of the U.S. These clinics serve a broad number of people yearly, ranging from around 100 people at the trauma treatment center to several thousand clients seen at the remaining clinic locations. Each serves diverse populations, and the clinics in Georgia and New Mexico are in predominately Black and Latine areas, respectively. I created a recruitment flyer (Appendix D) for this project that my community partners hung it in their clinics.

Participants sought to be included in this study by responding to the flyer.

There are various thoughts on how many participants are needed for qualitative studies to generate transferable results. Scholars suggest sample size depends on the nature of the topic, the data quality, the type of interview conducted, and the study's goal (Huberman, 2014; Morse, 2000, 2015a). Additionally, it is determined by practical factors like funding and time limitations (Huberman, 2014). Generally, adequate sample sizes range from 15 to 60 people if a researcher explores new phenomena using semi-structured interviews to inform new investigation areas (Guest et al., 2006; Maxwell, 2012). This study explores new topics in PTSD/SUD and aims to inform future investigations to ensure this field promotes health equity. I use semi-structured interviews (described below) to chart this area of exploration. Finally, balancing limited funding and time restrictions due to community partners needing the results to inform their programming,

I anticipated interviewing approximately 20 participants over three months. Participants were eligible to participate in the study if they met the following criteria:

- 1. They identify as a person of color.
- 2. They have been diagnosed with co-occurring PTSD and SUD by a clinician.
- 3. They have received clinical treatment for PTSD, SUD, or PTSD/SUD.
- 4. They speak English.
- 5. They were \geq 18 years old.

Thirty-one people responded to the recruitment flyer requesting to participate in the study; however, eight were excluded because they did not have a PTSD/SUD diagnosis. The remaining 23 were diagnosed with PTSD/SUD by a clinician and had or were currently receiving therapy for PTSD, SUD, or PTSD/SUD. Eight received SUD treatment only, four received PTSD treatment only, and eleven received PTSD/SUD treatment. Participants were from Michigan (n = 4), Georgia (n = 7), New Mexico (n = 4), and California (n = 8). Sixteen participants were female, two of whom were transgender women. Ten were Latine, eight were Black, four were multiracial, and one was Asian. Seven were Latina, one of whom was a transgender woman. Four women were Black. Among multiracial participants, two expressed that they are racialized as Black, one as White, and one as Latina (see Table 2 for participant demographics).

Design

I conducted open-ended, semi-structured qualitative interviews. Conventional qualitative interview techniques emphasize interviewer control, a one-way flow between the interviewer and respondents, and detachment (Sprague, 2016). However, this study was framed by feminism, emphasizing a two-way relationship between a researcher and a participant (Reid et al., 2023; Sprague, 2016). To accommodate this feminist framing, I used a responsive, semi-structured interviewing model developed by Rubin & Rubin (2011). This model allows an interviewer to adapt questions in response to what participants share. These new questions are carried over into subsequent interviews, making the interview guide an iterative living document. However, the interview questions must still focus on the guiding research questions. According to Rubin & Rubin and others (Maxwell, 2012), this format allows for more conversational flow and capturing rich detail. Interview Guide One (see Appendix B) shows the interview questions.

Procedure

Twenty participants were interviewed over HIPAA-compliant video conferencing software (i.e., Zoom) and three were interviewed in person. A trained research assistant and I interviewed the participants. My research assistant (RA) is an undergraduate at Michigan State University, majoring in criminal justice and minoring in psychology. She is a Black woman who has demonstrated an interest and aptitude in working with people experiencing oppression. I spent three hours training her on the interview protocol and procedures. Additionally, I have spent the last year and a half supervising her in her work as a mentor and advocate for youth in the juvenile justice system. The RA interviewed two participants, and I interviewed the rest.

We began each interview with rapport building, privacy, and confidentiality and shared our positionality and how it related to this study's purpose. With permission, we recorded every interview. On average, the first round of interviews (n = 23) lasted approximately one hour, excluding a 10-minute break during each interview. The shortest interview took ~40 minutes, and the longest was around one hour and 30 minutes. Participants were paid \$75 at the end of their interview. Every participant was asked if they would be willing to speak again to answer any questions that emerged after data analysis. They were informed they would be paid another \$75 for their time. Five participants participated in a member-checking (second) interview, resulting in a total of 28 interviews. On average, member-checking interviews lasted 30 minutes. After the interview, each participant received their interview transcript and confirmed its accuracy. Additionally, all participants will receive a copy of the results of this study.

The RA helped with interview transcription, coding, and developing a codebook. She transcribed 10 interviews, reviewed approximately 50% of the transcriptions with me, and we spent three separate one-hour sessions coding together to design a codebook. Overall, she helped

code half of the data. Sadly, in the middle of the research process, the RA endured a family tragedy and had to leave the study. I applied the codes to the remaining half of the data and iteratively designed new codes until I arrived at the final codebook.

Analysis

To analyze the data, I used strategies outlined by qualitative scholars Miles, Huberman, and Saldaña (Huberman, 2014). Their scholarship provides a comprehensive, systematic framework for analyzing qualitative data, which includes detailed strategies for coding, categorizing, theming, and interpreting data (Maxwell, 2012). The steps of analysis outlined below align with Miles, Huberman, and Saldaña's (2014) approach.

Transcription

Based on Huberman's (2014) recommendations, we carefully listened to the recorded interviews and transcribed them into Word as we listened. After the transcriptions were completed, we sent them to the participants for verification of accuracy. Initial insights about the data were recorded through notes and memos.

Coding Transcripts

The RA and I iteratively reviewed and coded transcriptions until we established a set of categories and codes that appeared to capture the data. We coded by highlighting phrase segments and full sentences and by summarizing the primary topic of a passage of qualitative data with a short phrase or a single word (i.e., descriptive coding; Saldaña, 2021). We finalized the codebook with 37 codes and 17 sub-codes. The RA coded approximately 50% of the data and I coded the remaining half. To ensure coding remained rigorous after the RA had to depart from the study and to finalize the coding structure, I submitted the transcripts to the qualitative analysis software program, *Dedoose*. I iteratively coded the transcripts and finalized a set of 32 codes with 15 sub-codes that could be divided into distinct categories.

Categorizing Codes

The categorizing process involves organizing codes into groups that capture the essence of the data (Huberman, 2014). This requires examining relationships between codes, identifying patterns in those relationships, and clustering similar or related codes together. This clustering results in a category. After generating categories, I iteratively refined and revised them to ensure they accurately reflect the data, maintaining a balance between the data's richness and the analysis's clarity (Huberman, 2014). When creating categories, I explicitly searched for relationships between PTSD/SUD clinical experiences and race and gender.

Theming Categories

Drawing from the categories in the data, I developed three themes (central, higher-order concepts) that informed this study's conclusions. These themes allowed me to connect the broader context of PTSD/SUD to my research questions. Table three illustrates the categories cohering my themes.

Saturation

Another central concept in qualitative research is saturation, which concerns the data's depth, richness, and comprehensiveness (Morse, 2000, 2015a). It ensures that the diversity and complexity of participants' experiences and perspectives have been adequately captured (Morse, 2015b). Saturation is typically determined iteratively and subjectively by the researcher through continuous data analysis (Guest et al., 2006). Researchers must look for redundancy in codes, categories, and themes as they review the data (Morse, 2015b). Whether a researcher has reached saturation is a judgment call of whether their data continually diverges throughout the interview, coding, categorizing, and theming processes or if codes, categories, and themes are converging (Morse, 2015a, 2015b). When concepts drawn from the data consistently converge, a researcher can say they have "reached saturation," which signals that data collection can be concluded. My analytic findings consistently converged by the time the 23rd participant was interviewed, and convergence was strengthened throughout secondary interviews. Therefore, I concluded that my study was saturated from the 28 interviews I conducted with 23 participants.

Validity

Qualitative scholars argue that special attention must be given to validity in qualitative research manuscripts (Maxwell, 2012; Huberman, 2014). However, before I do so, I will briefly detail why I use the term validity over trustworthiness (another concept akin to validity). Trustworthiness is a qualitative research term coined by Yvonna Lincoln and Egon Guba in the 1980s and then elaborated on in the 1990s (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). Over time, the term has been critiqued for lack of clarity and precision. It has come to refer to various concepts, including credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability, and the lack of clarity around the concept makes it difficult to determine what a researcher means when they say their findings are trustworthy (Kirk & Miller, 1986; Maxwell, 2012; Silverman, 2013). Indeed, trustworthiness was meant to signal that qualitative research emanated from a different paradigm than quantitative research (i.e., constructionist vs post-positivist), and the use of the word over validity was intended to signal that scholars recognized this distinction (Guba & Lincoln, 1994). However, as qualitative research has become more popular in the social sciences, it has ceased to emanate only from a constructionist paradigm. Today, qualitative research can be post-positivist (Sprague, 2016), and quantitative research can be constructionist or even transformative (e.g., see work by del Rìo-Gonzàlez et al., 2021). Because mainstream scholars often critique feminist research as ambiguous or unclear (Harris, 2021), I parallel qualitative scholars who use validity because it has a well-established meaning regarding the accuracy of research findings.

In qualitative research, validity is the credibility or correctness of my descriptions, conclusions, and interpretations (Maxwell, 2012). Validity is a property of inferences; no method can completely assure validity (Maxwell, 2012). Therefore, I identify and address this study's primary validity threats. The first is the incongruence between my situatedness and some

participants. I am a middle-class Chicano academic, and my situatedness involves opportunities and constraints that differ from the participants'. Thus, I cannot be sure that I will notice and interpret the experiences participants share perfectly. I share my interpretations and transcriptions with participants to address this validity threat (Maxwell, 2012).

Next, I addressed common threats to validity like thin description, lack of comparison, and a lack of numbers (Maxwell, 2012). To combat thin description (poorly detailed data), I conducted semi-structured, open-ended interviews with every participant. I reinterviewed several to get their perspectives on categories (Maxwell, 2012). Also, I constructed detailed transcriptions and memos and concluded by explicitly linking the raw data from these sources to my themes via a data display matrix (Maxwell, 2012). Finally, I used numbers to identify the "amount" of evidence in my data to support my conclusions. For example, I stated how many people shared a belief or experience (Maxwell, 2012).

Ethics and Safety

Study participants have experienced or are experiencing a significantly distressing disorder. Therefore, matters of ethics and safety are deeply relevant to my intake and interview processes. Ethical principles, such as respect for autonomy, beneficence, and justice, will guide my interactions with participants. My intake and interview will describe the purpose of the study and obtain informed consent. I ensured that participants knew the study's purpose before voluntarily engaging in the research process. I then shared with the participants that I prioritize confidentiality and anonymity to protect their identities and sensitive information. I requested consent to record and deleted recordings after transcribing them. I changed all participant names to pseudonyms during transcription. Then, I shared my transcriptions with participants to ensure my writing was accurate and acceptable. Every participant confirmed the transcript was accurate and acceptable.

Beyond ethical considerations, ensuring the safety and well-being of participants involves creating a supportive environment, particularly when exploring sensitive topics. I never asked participants to detail their traumatic experiences, and those who shared them did so of their own will. After each interview, I shared national behavioral health resources with every participant. No participant asked for additional resources. Although no participant expressed feelings of self or other harm or shared about child abuse/neglect, I had a protocol in place to call my supervisor and connect the participant with local resources should they do so. I also established clear communication channels with Michigan State and my supervisor for participants should they struggle with me or the research process. I told each participant that we would halt or modify the study if any adverse effects emerged on the participants.

Results

I identified three themes based on what participants shared about the relationship between race, gender, and PTSD/SUD. First, intersectional oppression contributes to PTSD/SUD incidence. Second, encounters with discrimination aggravate PTSD/SUD symptoms. Thus, matters of oppression are important issues that should be discussed in therapy. Third, whiteness structures clinics and clinician actions. Therefore, participants felt unwelcome in clinics, and their experiences with oppression were mishandled or poorly understood by clinicians. These themes are discussed below, and pseudonyms are used when naming participants.

Intersectional Oppression, Trauma and PTSD/SUD Incidence

Most participants (n = 21) voluntarily discussed the experiences that contributed to their PTSD/SUD diagnosis. Although most participants experienced multiple forms of trauma and the substances people used varied widely, almost all women (\sim 85%) endured some form of sexual victimization, and most men (71%) endured some form of interpersonal and childhood violence. These experiences formed the foundation of participants' PTSD/SUD. After analysis, it became clear that intersectional oppression deeply influenced the nature and course of the trauma and substance use experiences participants reported.

For women, intersecting oppressions related to gender-based victimization played a major role in fostering their PTSD/SUD. To illustrate, Maritza shared, "I got raped when I was 16. I didn't start using drugs right away... but I didn't feel like I could talk about it to anyone... It's he said, she said kinda thing, and people *always* [emphasis original] blame the girl. I didn't want to go through that. I couldn't stop thinking about it or dreaming about it... One day, I got pain pills from a soccer injury... I took them and felt like [the trauma] didn't matter anymore... I felt better for the first time in a while." Maritza then stated, matter-of-factly, "It was taking pills or having

my life under a microscope, so I took the pills." Her experience resembled other women's stories and demonstrated how sexism, which cultivates a permissive environment of violence against women, renders them vulnerable to sexual violence. Her story also illustrates that patriarchy intersects with our society's victim-blaming ethos to influence women to cope with sexual trauma with drugs rather than speak out about their victimization and risk blame.

In another example, Geena shared a harrowing experience that she is still enduring, "My parents freaked when I came out to them. They hated the idea that I'm trans. They hated *me* [emphasis original]... so I pretend I'm not trans to them. It's agonizing. Like I have weeds growing on my body that I can't pick and that my parents won't acknowledge...". Because of this, Geena shared, "...I started using drugs because it was the only thing that made me not notice that I hated my body... I couldn't always pay for the drugs, so sometimes I had to sleep with the guy I was getting them from. I didn't always want to sleep with him, but it was either that or feel suicidal...". The intersecting oppressions of anti-transgender ideology and sexism caused Geena to feel suicidal, to seek drugs from a classmate, and to use her body (not always consensually) to get drugs.

Next, elements of the criminalization of oppressed groups' experiences and the cultural stigma against men discussing mental health intersected to stoke PTSD/SUD among men. To illustrate, Martin shared, "I was younger when I saw my friend get shot. I was right there next to him. It still sticks to me... I couldn't tell anyone. I couldn't tell no damn therapist or school counselor or whatever because who are they gonna call [referencing the police]? I wasn't even poor growing up, but I still knew not to trust the cops... so I drank. I drank a lot. It helped me...". Then Martin discussed other barriers that sustained his anguish when he shared, "Men don't talk about their feelings. So, going to therapy was double not for me for a long time. I still

haven't told my dad I'm in therapy because he'd be like, "Don't be weak, boy!" Martin's story was emblematic of many other men's stories. Many were exposed to some kind of interpersonal trauma, yet they were concerned about revealing their trauma because men of color are often criminalized when facing violence. Further, this issue was compounded by the cultural stigma around discussing mental health issues. These oppressive forces intersected and kept them suffering and using substances to numb their pain.

Similarly, David shared, "My mom was illegal, and my dad abused us... he knew she couldn't get help because of her [legal] status... who could I tell because mom would get in trouble... I felt like I let her down because I couldn't stand up to him [the dad], and I couldn't get help either... no one in the family talked about it because we don't talk about those kinds of things [referencing cultural stigma around discussing behavioral health issues]." Although his mother's legal status was a unique issue, criminalization and stigma were laced into David's PTSD/SUD incidence. This data represents almost all participants' experiences. Intersecting oppression influenced the nature and course of participants' PTSD/SUD incidence. Although intersecting forces qualitatively differed by gender, it was clear that larger societal issues play a significant role in oppressed groups' PTSD/SUD incidence and must be seriously examined.

Discrimination and PTSD/SUD Symptom Aggravation

Nearly half of the participants (n = 10) noted that they often encounter discrimination because of their skin color, gender, or both and that these encounters aggravate their PTSD/SUD symptoms. For example, Wangari is an occupational therapist in an outpatient clinic. He asserted that White people seem scared of him because he is a "dark-skinned African-American." Throughout his career, white patients have avoided him in the clinic gym, and several have requested to work with a different therapist because they found him "angry" or "aggressive."

These accusations anger Wangari. With audible tension, he stated, "... I know it's because I'm African-American. They've never said that about anyone White... it makes me pissed. They don't know what I've been through." Over time, the recurrence of this issue caused Wangari to adopt a persona around his White patients, stating he must be "always smiling and easy-going... if I'm having a bad day or feeling quiet, I can't show that because someone might accuse me of being aggressive." The effects of discrimination are stressful for Wangari, prompt drug cravings, and cause him to go to a "dark place." He stated, "I'm exhausted because I'm either avoiding racism or I'm facing it. I get no rest. I woke up that morning telling myself today, "I'm not gonna smoke today" [referencing his struggle with substance misuse]. Then, halfway through the day [because of encounters with racism], I want to drink and smoke, and then I'm home doing it...". He further shared, "Sometimes someone says something racist, and it gets in my head. Then I'm thinking about that for a while, and then all of a sudden, I'm thinking back to the things that gave me PTSD. It's like I'm right back there." Discrimination caused Wangari to crave substances and re-activated a traumatic memory. Similarly, Audre shared, "...this guy wouldn't leave me alone. He kept saying... 'you're so exotic'... 'I've never been with a Black girl'... he had his hands all over me, and it was just so gross... I was so angry... I blacked out. I don't remember that night... I didn't even drink that night. I just think I dissociated because it was like before [referencing a sexual assault]." These examples are representative of participants' challenges with discrimination and how they aggravate PTSD/SUD symptoms.

Further, many of these participants shared that because they regularly endure discrimination, they hoped to address it in therapy. Nelson stated, "This [discrimination] is just as real as everything else. It affects me, and I need to be able to talk to a therapist about it... I need to learn how to not let it affect me." Similarly, Audre shared, "I deal with this stuff *all the*

time [emphasis original]. I'm going to inevitably have to bring it up in therapy." Like the others, Wangari stated, "If I could talk to a therapist about this stuff, I don't think it'd have power over me." Because discrimination is pervasive and aggravates symptoms, participants were adamant that they must be able to discuss and address discrimination in therapy. Yet, few found therapy to be a safe space to address discrimination issues.

Overall, intersectional oppression and discrimination are deeply and significantly woven into participants' PTSD/SUD. Yet, despite this, and although participants want to address these issues in therapy, the findings below reveal that the experiences of oppressed groups are not considered in behavioral health. Consequently, they had few allies to discuss and address these issues in therapy. Instead, their stories reveal that behavioral health is structured by whiteness and boxes out anything that does not conform to whiteness.

Whiteness Structures the Behavioral Health Clinic

Participants described how clinics handled matters of race and gender, and the themes cohering their descriptions suggest that clinical settings are structured by whiteness. Most clinics were primarily composed of White staff, and images around the clinic (i.e., brochures, posters) seldom displayed people of color. The absence of people of color in the clinic setting constitutes an environmental macroaggression and reveals that the clinic was constructed without diversity in mind. Moreover, participants characterized their interactions with clinic staff as "insulting" and shared that they detected "subtle racism" when staff spoke with them. The insulting, subtle racism (i.e., microinsults) participants endured suggests that clinical institutions had not trained staff to identify and arrest racist implicit biases. Importantly, not all participants reported experiencing microinsults. Several participants shared that because they had light skin, staff seemed to assume they were White, which they attributed to the better treatment they received

from staff (i.e., colorism). Overall, these factors combine to demonstrate that clinical settings are structured with White people's comfort in mind and not in ways that center or even accommodate the needs of people of color. These findings are discussed below.

Environmental Macroaggressions

Participants noted that clinic posters, pictures, brochures, and staff almost always prominently displayed White people, making them feel like Black and Brown bodies stuck out and were unwelcome. For instance, Angela mentioned, "I just walk in, and I notice... nobody looks like me... I don't know how people are gonna respond to me being there." In another instance, Nelson shared, "... when it's just me looking like this [Black], I gotta be extra careful." Then, chuckling, he shared, "Even the pictures are lookin' at me asking what I'm doing here." Here, Nelson is derisively noting that all visible elements of the clinic are telling him that he is not welcome. Similarly, Isabel shared in an exasperated way, "I'm going to therapy because I feel alone... I get in there, and I don't see anyone looking like me or talking like me, which is weird because I live in Albuquerque. Everyone in the street looks like me. But then in here... nobody does... I thought I wasn't supposed to feel alone here." These environmental macroaggressions communicated that people of color were not thought of when the clinic was being structured and were, therefore, not welcome.

Importantly, some clinics displayed diversity, which was a welcome relief to participants. For example, DeRay shared that when he sought treatment in the clinic close to his home, many staff members, pictures, and art displayed racial diversity, making him feel more welcome in the clinic environment. Audre also noted that her clinic had racially diverse posters and brochures. She shared, "... when I saw that, I felt welcome [in the clinic]." However, visible diversity was rare; almost all participants felt that White images and staff were the most prominent features in

the clinics where they were treated. Consequently, participants felt like outsiders in the clinic setting.

Microinsults

Participants (n = 13) shared that they often felt slighted when interacting with clinic staff and attributed that feeling to "subtle racism." For instance, Leslie shared, "When I talk to them [staff], I always feel talked down to... I *know* [emphasis original] it's because I'm Mexican." Malcolm contextualized the experience further when sharing, "It's not like they say anything rude to me. It's the energy they use to talk to me. It's condescending. I can't describe it- you have to feel it." He further characterized the experience by stating, "It's this kind of subtle racism that you deal with every day. You can't call people out for it because they can deny it. But [long, reflexive pause] you just know it's there." Malcolm was clear that there was nothing overt about the interaction that could be easily called racism, yet the racism was palpable.

Other participants shared similar details, using words like "vibe," "energy," or "sense." Alicia offered a succinct analogy to clarify her point: "It's the vibe you get when they talk to you. It's insulting. It's like... when you're in trouble with your mom in public, but she's not saying anything she wouldn't say in public. She's talking to you, but you know you're in trouble by how she's talking to you. But nobody else can notice it because it's the vibe only you guys understand. It's like that. When they talk to you, you know something is underneath." These microinsults made participants feel unwelcome in clinic settings. Importantly, participants were not subjected to microinsults at every appointment, but it occurred on multiple occasions.

Microinsults and the lack of visible diversity in clinics show that clinic settings center whiteness by not being inclusive of or alert to racial dynamics. Consequently, many participants attempted to appease whiteness to reduce the likelihood of experiencing microinsults (described below).

Colorism

Colorism is the act of offering privilege to or committing discrimination against people according to the darkness of their skin (Burke & Embrich, 2008). It was a relevant factor associated with three participants' treatment in the clinic and demonstrates whiteness structuring the clinical setting. Caesar, Gloria, and David have light brown skin; each mentioned they "passed" for White. They attributed their light skin color to their limited experiences with microinsults. For instance, Gloria shared that her welcome in the clinic "depends on how I'm read... I look White to some people, so sometimes they treat me like I'm White... they don't talk to me like they talk to others [other people of color]. They always say ma'am and ask if they can get me something...". Colorism afforded these participants privilege, further illustrating that whiteness structures the clinic setting. Others had to seek the "privilege" of being treated with respect by altering their appearance or speech when interacting with staff.

Altering Ways of Being to Appeal to Whiteness

Black men and women avoided wearing hoodies, baggy clothes, hats, and sunglasses, sharing that wearing these clothing would put them at risk for discrimination. They also avoided using slang. Several Latine participants deemphasized their accents and did not roll their R's when speaking to staff because they believed doing so might cause staff to discriminate against them. Lastly, both Transgender women did their best to look and speak "as femininely as possible" because they did not want to be discriminated against, misgendered, or treated rudely. As Bamby stated, "It's just better if they don't know I'm trans," asserting that if staff knew she was transgender, she would be at risk for harm. Participants were mixed as to whether these efforts made a difference. Each Black male participant believed making these alterations reduced their chances of facing overt

discrimination, like having the police called on them for "looking threatening." Also, both transgender women were confident altering their appearance effectively reduced their chances of enduring discrimination. However, no other participants were confident that their strategic alterations made any difference. Indeed, though there are differences in the sources of oppression affecting Black men and transgender women of color, both groups endure high levels of violence and discrimination based on their physical appearance. This may explain why these groups believed their alterations were effective while others did not.

As has so far been detailed, matters of oppression are woven into PTSD/SUD, yet race and gender issues are neglected and mishandled at the clinic level. Further, as will be detailed below, therapists struggled to address matters of oppression. This indicated that, just as in the clinic, whiteness structured therapeutic engagements.

Whiteness Structures Therapeutic Engagements

Participants indicated that because of exposure to discrimination in society and prior experiences with discrimination in healthcare settings, they tested the waters with their therapists before discussing important racial issues. When they did, many participants reported that their therapists committed microinvalidations, which negatively impacted their therapy experiences. However, some participants shared that their therapists were receptive to discussing race matters, but they had to take significant time during the session to educate their therapists about race. This process was tiresome and frustrating for participants. Participants' reticence to discuss race matters and their therapists' inability or under-preparedness to address matters of race are illustrations of how therapy is structured by whiteness. These findings are detailed below.

Testing The Waters

... My mom used to tell me when I was in front of White people things she didn't tell me when I was in front of others- like don't act up in front of these White people... you can act up anywhere else, but don't act up in front of them. Then, in the therapy world, I have to be on my best behavior with this therapist who's not a person of color, but if I'm gonna work on my issues, I need to be able to be open. But I don't even know if she [the therapist] understands all that.

Malcolm

Malcolm's quote reveals that people of color are taught at a young age the importance of accommodating whiteness to prevent exposure to discrimination. Further, after referencing the recent spate of vigilante shootings of people of color by White people, "Karen" outbursts, and threats to involve police or immigration on people of color, Oscar stated, "making white people comfortable is [a matter of] survival." Several participants shared these sentiments, stating that

they were concerned about opening up to a therapist because they, as stated by Fannie, "live in a White world." They were concerned about bringing up matters of oppression as it pertained to their PTSD/SUD for fear that therapists would not understand or perpetuate harm. As stated succinctly by Malcolm, "I wonder if she's gonna get where I'm coming from, or even gonna try to get me. And is she gonna say some out-of-pocket shit [i.e., is she going to say something racist]. It's a lot on my mind when I get in there [in the therapy room]."

Some participants, like Dolores, had previously experienced racial discrimination in healthcare settings by doctors and clinicians, which negatively impacted her trust that her therapist would be receptive to discrimination issues. She said, "I've gone through this before [referencing discrimination]. Doctors have been racist to me, and so I know they don't know any better. So I'm sitting there asking myself if this one [her therapist] is gonna do that, too." As these quotes illustrate, when participants worked with a White therapist, various social and historical circumstances caused them to be concerned about whether their therapist would understand them or discriminate against them.

Because of this uncertainty, participants would "test the waters" to find an answer. Most participants made strategic observations and statements during this period to render insight. First, when participants met their therapist, they judged whether they were greeted with indifference or if the greeting was "humanizing." Positively, participants reported that they were greeted kindly. Additionally, participants were aware of diversity signals in the therapists' room. They shared that they would look for photos, insignia, flags, books, and even clothing or jewelry that indicated an awareness of diversity. The most consistent signs relevant to diversity were rainbow flags. Participants noted that rainbow flags were welcome and signaled to them that diversity might be welcomed and understood by their therapist. Interestingly, however, Audre, who is

Black and queer, stated that rainbow flags were insufficient signals. She noted that she saw a pride flag in her therapist's office as a sign that she could "discuss queer issues." Yet, she saw no racial solidarity insignia, which cause her to question whether she could "be black."

Some participants tested the waters in other ways. They would use slang, make statements about race, or share observations about racism with a therapist and judge the therapist's response. Some shared that their therapists' responses demonstrated that diversity matters were uncomfortable discussion topics. For example, Rosa shared she "used some slang... she [the therapist] just wasn't about that... she just had this nervous laugh and looked at the clock... It's funny now, but then I was like, oooooh [folding arms and legs to indicate feeling self-protective]." Most faced similar responses. Fannie stated, "She didn't really say anything to me. I could just see she got tight. Like clutching her chair. You could see she didn't know how to respond to me. I don't remember what I said... something like driving while Black or something stupid. Nuh uh [she clicked her tongue and wagged her finger] 'none of that here' [indicating what the therapist's physical response said to her]." Overall, many participants noted their therapist's verbal and physical responses to these comments indicated the therapist was uncomfortable. Therefore, they held off discussing them until it was necessary.

In contrast, some participants reported that their White therapist handled these moments well. Audre commented on the pride flag in her therapist's office, and she reported that her therapist said, "I can't remember exactly what she said, but something like 'it's important that you can talk to me about these things." However, Audre shared that it was more than just the words: "It was her body language. She was open and nodding her head. Her energy just said that she was telling the truth." The combination of words and how her therapist held space during the statement made Audre feel she had "space" to discuss these matters. Similarly, Leslie shared that

her therapist asked her about her plans for the day during her intake. She shared that she was going to her niece's quinceañera. Leslie stated, "She asked me to tell her about it, that she didn't know [about it]... I was just like... ok, this person might be cool." Like Audre, Leslie said, "she just seemed genuine when asked..." When therapists verbally and physically responded openly to participants' statements, participants felt like they had space to discuss matters of oppression. However, most therapists struggled to respond to these topics and "froze up" or "got stiff." When therapists stiffened at these topics, participants became concerned that they could not bring up race issues relevant to their PTSD/SUD. Eventually, however, these topics came up. Therapists' responses confirmed they had not adequately prepared for these conversations.

Microinvalidations

Race matters eventually came up in therapy. Sometimes, they came up after participants experienced discrimination that impacted their symptoms, and they wished to learn tools to prevent these issues from further activating symptoms. Other times, they were an integral part of why the participant had PTSD/SUD and was essential to the therapeutic conversation. However, when they brought up these matters, many from this group (n = 13) experienced microinvalidations from their therapist in response. These microinvalidations negatively affected participants' therapy experiences.

To illustrate, DeRay was in a grocery store, and a white clerk accused him of stealing a water bottle. However, DeRay brought the water bottle from home. The clerk called security, and DeRay strongly urged them to watch the film, fearing the situation could get deadly if police became involved. Fortunately, they watched the film, but rather than receive an apology, the clerk said, "People are always lying, so I couldn't trust you." However, DeRay saw other people drinking water and knew that because those other people were White, the clerk did not assume

they were stealing. DeRay was angry the rest of the day and felt "out of it" the following day. He shared that events like this sometimes happen to him, noting his dark skin is regarded with suspicion wherever he goes. These experiences cause DeRay significant difficulty concentrating for days afterward, and he replays these moments in his head. DeRay relayed this to his therapist, hoping to process the fear he felt and the racism he experienced and learn how to cope with these experiences without feeling emotionally drained for days. But instead of helping, his therapist's response was to ask DeRay if he was sure the clerk was being racist, sharing that perhaps it would help to think that the clerk was "just having a bad day." "It just felt like she was making excuses for his [the clerk's] behavior and questioning my view." DeRay believed this interaction significantly negatively impacted his relationship with his therapist. He began searching for a new therapist and felt as though all the time and effort he spent getting into therapy was wasted.

In another example, David shared that he relayed to his therapist that he believed he had PTSD/SUD largely because of how Latine people are treated in the US. However, his therapist replied that his PTSD/SUD was likely a product of more complicated issues. David felt invalidated and was frustrated by his therapist's response. Consequently, David decided not to share race matters with his therapist unless necessary. In a final example, Geena stated her therapist committed microinvalidations because of their implicit expectations of Asians. Geena shared that when she brought up her problems about her family's expectations of her and how her parent's Asian heritage uniquely shaped her transgender experience, "She [the therapist] looked at me and like, you know, like you're supposed to be smart. Like you don't belong here in a sense... when I shared, she didn't really put much thought in it and was like, oh, yeah, oh, that's unfortunate." Geena shared that it seemed like her therapist nullified her distress because Asians

are expected to be able to solve their dilemmas. This sense pervaded her therapeutic experience, and Geena also searched for a new therapist after becoming aware of this pattern.

Time after time, participants in this study reported similar circumstances, sharing that when they discussed how matters of race affected them, their racial realities were invalidated. Consequently, their hopes of processing racial issues and learning tools to lessen discrimination's impact on their PTSD/SUD were dashed. Most participants said they did not challenge their therapist's microinvalidation for fear of "making a big deal" out of the experience. However, Dolores did challenge her therapist, stating, "I know what racism looks like, and this was racism," yet her therapist did not acquiesce. Dolores was frustrated that she had to "convince" her therapist that racism affected her. Participants' experiences testing waters and with microinvalidations show that therapists have not been prepared to recognize and address matters of racial oppression. Further, when these circumstances are brought up, they commit harm in ways that diversity training could address. These results demonstrate that therapeutic interactions are structured by whiteness. This causes participants harm and alters their therapy path.

Overall, seven participants have searched for a new therapist, and each shared that they are looking for a therapist of color because they believe a therapist of color would handle matters of race better than a White therapist. Others shared that they have not brought up matters of race with their therapist after their therapist committed a microinvalidation because they do not trust their therapist to validate their experience. Three participants stopped going to therapy immediately after they were microinvalidated. Interestingly, these three were also receiving medication from the same clinic for their PTSD/SUD and possibly felt comfortable ending therapy because they were still receiving some form of treatment. It is unclear if stopping therapy threatened their ability to continue receiving their medications. Additionally, two participants

who experienced microinvalidation in therapy shared that their symptoms were exacerbated.

Dolores felt like she wanted to drink after being invalidated by her therapist. She reported that she left feeling dejected and angry and that "a drink sounded like a good idea." Angela shared she felt "emotionally set back" and struggled to open up in future sessions. Thus, microinvalidations in the therapeutic setting can set back therapeutic goals like sobriety.

The Labor of Education

Nine participants reported that when they brought up race matters, their therapists provided "space" or "room" to discuss these topics. Five participants had a white therapist, and four worked with a therapist of color. Four who worked with a white therapist believed that their therapist was underprepared to discuss matters of race and they had to spend valuable time in the therapy session educating the therapist. They reported that when they brought up matters of race, their therapist asked them to explain the issue so they could understand the experience.

Rosa captured the sentiment of these participants succinctly by stating, "It's great she wants to see where I'm coming from... but I have to sit down and tell her why I see something as discrimination... it's exhausting... it takes the whole time to help her [the therapist] get it...".

Rosa and the other participants expressed frustration that their therapist was not trained or did not make their own time to learn about matters of race.

Importantly, two participants had unique experiences. Fannie worked with a therapist of color; however, she shared that her therapist was originally from India and that her therapist was not clued into the unique racial circumstances Black women face in the US. She also had to spend considerable time in therapy educating her therapist about racism and its impact on her PTSD/SUD. In fact, despite her therapist's receptiveness to discussing matters of race, Fannie left therapy after a few months, declaring that she felt like she had to explain too much to her

therapist and got too few therapeutic tools out of their engagements. Next, Audre mentioned that her White therapist handled matters of race and gender well and was knowledgeable about the impact of racism on behavioral health. Audre shared that she learned that a Black woman supervised her therapist and that she took several diversity trainings. Audre believed that her therapist's exposure to diversity training allowed her to be responsive to race matters.

Discussion

Our findings add to the mounting literature that structural oppression impacts PTSD and SUD (Bird et al., 2021; Farahmand et al., 2020), and we are the first to link structural oppression with the incidence of PTSD/SUD. Specifically, we found that various forms of oppression intersect and influence the nature of marginalized people's traumas and substance use. Moreover, participants recognized that oppressive forces were relevant to their PTSD/SUD and wished to discuss these issues in therapy. Further, consistent with intersectionality (Cho et al., 2013; Crenshaw, 1991), we found that these intersecting forces differed by gender. Women's traumas typically stemmed from gender-based violence made permissible by patriarchy, and their substance use was often a coping mechanism they engaged in because they did not want to discuss their victimization and risk being victim-blamed. Currently, some research has investigated treatments for PTSD/SUD caused by gender-based violence, and authors have concluded that these interventions are efficacious (e.g., see Myers et al., 2015). However, White women are the majority group included in this research (42% of the entire sample). Yet, women of color have a higher prevalence of gender-based violence than White women ($\leq 46\% :\leq 34\%$; Stockman et al., 2015) and often endure more severe violence during gender-based attacks and often endure both racial and gender violence simultaneously (Bent-Goodley, 2009). Therefore, it is unclear how efficacious existing interventions are for women of color. Further, despite a long history of research linking victim-blaming with women's substance use patterns (Follingstad et al., 1988; Sáez et al., 2020), and evidence that Black women are more likely to be blamed for victimization than White women (Linhares et al., 2023), none of the PTSD/SUD clinical research has addressed victim blaming. Therefore, our findings demonstrate the importance of a) including more women of color in clinical research targeting gender-based violence and b) taking an intersectional approach to designing PTSD/SUD interventions by targeting victim blaming and gender-based violence among women of color.

Men of color's PTSD/SUD incidence was also linked with intersectional oppression, namely the criminalization of circumstances relevant to their lives and cultural stigma precluding men from discussing behavioral health issues. Importantly, around 40% of PTSD/SUD research focuses on addressing PTSD/SUD from combat trauma (Reid & Buchanan, 2024). Yet, only around 12% of those with PTSD/SUD have the disorder because of combat trauma. Rather, the most common traumas related to PTSD and SUD for men are exposure to adverse childhood experiences, enduring neighborhood, gang, or gun violence, or witnessing violence (Roberts et al., 2013). Moreover, men of color are most likely to experience adverse childhood experiences, or exposure to neighborhood, gang, or gun violence and subsequently develop pathology from the experience (Roberts et al., 2013). Therefore, the systematic lack of attention in PTSD/SUD research to issues relevant to men of color may not only sustain their suffering but may also sustain their concerns of criminalization and stigma around seeking treatment. By not charting studies to address the PTSD/SUD issues to men of color, we perpetuate the legal systems' involvement in their traumas rather than the healthcare system. Moreover, a lack of research into these issues maintains a gap in knowledge around these issues, which may make it more difficult for men of color to feel comfortable speaking up about how these issues affect them. Therefore, PTSD/SUD researchers must address these issues if men of color are going to have options for help and feel comfortable seeking these options.

Although men and women in this sample endured unique traumas, they both coped with their traumas with substances for similar reasons. In both cases, social forces silenced them from speaking out about their traumatic experiences, which encouraged their substance use. These findings indicate that PTSD/SUD scholars must also recognize and address the role that culture and oppression plays in promoting substance use as a coping mechanism for trauma among people of color.

Further, many participants shared that discrimination aggravated their PTSD/SUD symptoms by prompting substance use cravings or causing them to dwell on past traumas. These findings build on existing scholarship identifying a link between discrimination, PTSD, and SUD (Bird et al., 2021; Desalu et al., 2019; Fani et al., 2021; Sibrava et al., 2019). Yet, as with the issues above, there are no PTSD/SUD studies targeting racial discrimination. The lack of investigation of the effects of discrimination negatively affected clinicians' ability to address the topic appropriately (discussed more below).

Next, we found that clinics were structured by whiteness as they curated an environment that centered the visibility of White people and made oppressed groups feel unwelcome. White people were the most visible group among posters, staff, brochures, and security personnel, and participants' unambiguous takeaway was that they were unwelcome. These results corroborate research findings that environmental macroaggressions create an unwelcoming environment by creating questions about whether institutions will be receptive to oppressed groups' needs (Purdie-Vaughns et al., 2008; Solorzano et al., 2000). This finding is a logical consequence of the pervasive inattention to diversity and health equity in psychological spaces (Hardy, 2022; Huff, 2021; Roberts et al., 2020). Because participants felt uncomfortable in clinic spaces, they altered their appearance and speech to go unnoticed in these settings. They felt this was necessary because they felt sticking out in White spaces put them at risk for discrimination.

Yet, despite altering their appearance and speech, participants often endured microinsults when speaking with staff. Although they could not give concrete examples of racially biased

statements staff made, they argued that the way staff spoke to them was racially discriminatory. Interestingly, staff seldom discriminated against participants whose skin color passed as White. Among participants who did not pass for White, they shared that their interactions with clinic staff resembled "subtle racism" rather than overt racism. This subtlety is a key feature of microaggressions (Sue and Spanierman, 2020), and the enactment of microaggressions against people of color is deeply problematic for many reasons. Yet, importantly for this group, researchers have found that microaggressions can aggravate PTSD symptoms (MacIntyre et al., 2023). Although no participant remarked that their encounter with clinic staff aggravated their symptoms, they could have. Therefore, microaggressions from clinic staff risk aggravating the very disorder that participants are seeking to treat. These issues must be addressed by clinics and staff trainings, and health equity scholars like Monnica Williams have begun developing protocols to ensure clinics foster welcoming environments for oppressed groups (Williams et al., 2024). These suggestions include integrating oppressed groups into practices like the design of settings and training on interpersonal interactions between different racial/gender groups. Each of these practices may reduce the likelihood that clinics are structured by whiteness and clientstaff interactions by subtle racism.

Finally, because the clinics were structured by whiteness, participants were unsure if they could discuss matters of oppression or discrimination with their therapists. Thus, before they brought up these experiences to therapists, they searched for signs that diversity-related issues were welcome in the therapy session. They often noted rainbow flags in their therapists' offices, which was encouraging. However, therapists never remarked about diversity before participants did, and when participants brought up the subject, most therapists appeared uncomfortable. This caused participants to be reticent to discuss diversity matters unless they were relevant. However,

because matters of oppression and discrimination were laced into oppressed groups' PTSD/SUD experiences, they eventually discussed these matters in therapy.

When participants brought these issues up, their therapist either invalidated their experience or encouraged the participant to share about the topic. Most participants' therapists invalidated their experience. They shared that when they brought up an instance of discrimination and its effects on their symptoms, therapists asked them if they were sure the experience was racially motivated or asked them to think about the experience from a different logic (i.e., put themselves in the perpetrator's shoes). These microinvalidations harmed the therapeutic relationship participants had with their therapists. Most shared that they could no longer trust their therapist, and many began searching for a new therapist– preferably a therapist of color. Clinical scholars have found that the quality of the therapeutic relationship is one of the most significant predictors of therapeutic success (Flückiger et al., 2018). Because microinvalidations caused the therapeutic relationship such harm, it is possible that participants' chances of recovering from PTSD/SUD using therapy were lowered. The juxtaposition of these findings is particularly distressing given that researchers have found microaggressions are pervasive in therapy (Lee et al., 2018; Sue & Spanierman, 2020). Further, microinvalidations caused some participants to stop attending therapy altogether. Importantly, PTSD/SUD literature indicates people of color often terminate treatment early. Scholars have theorized that this is because people of color have worse symptoms, which make it more difficult for them to attend treatment (Lester et al., 2010; Ruglass et al., 2016). However, our findings suggest that the damage microaggressions caused to the therapeutic alliance caused early treatment termination.

Contrary to most participants' experiences above, some therapists validated participants' experiences and encouraged them to discuss the matters. However, although these therapists took

an important first step by validating participants' experiences and encouraging them to talk about discrimination, these therapists were underprepared to discuss matters of discrimination and oppression. Participants shared that when they discussed these matters, they had to educate their therapist about racial dynamics and why circumstances were discriminatory. They found it laborious to have to educate their therapists about these issues consistently, and one participant found the matter so frustrating that she left treatment. Therefore, validating participants' experiences with discrimination is only one step in helping them overcome these issues.

Although psychological scholarship is still growing in this area, current scholarship urges therapists to educate themselves about discrimination, take cultural competence training, and receive feedback on their related interventions (Buchanan & Wiklund, 2020; Hardy, 2022; Sue & Spanierman, 2020). This is imperative because researchers have found that therapists' practices usually do not improve over time regardless of their frequency of work in a topic area (Erekson et al., 2017). Rather, their skills tend to improve when they receive education, training, and feedback on their work (Erekson et al., 2017).

One final point, contrary to expectations, we found that gender was not a salient issue in therapy for most participants regardless of whether they were cisgender or transgender. This may be because most therapists were women, and most clinics demonstrated sensitivity to LGBTQ+ people by displaying rainbow flags. However, there were still several important takeaways related to gender. Both transgender participants had historically experienced discrimination in healthcare settings and made significant efforts to "pass" as cisgender women through the duration of their treatment. They may have experienced discrimination if they did not make these efforts. Additionally, men shared that they were more comfortable working with a female

therapist due to the stigma of men sharing feelings with other men. This suggests that gendered experiences are operative in PTSD/SUD treatment and must be explored in future studies.

In sum, we found that matters of oppression and discrimination are deeply woven into oppressed groups' PTSD/SUD. Consequently, these issues will most likely need to be addressed in treatment. However, whiteness structures clinic settings and therapeutic engagements, and this had negative consequences for oppressed groups' ability to address matters of oppression and discrimination in therapy. This cycle of oppression is alarming and must be addressed to address PTSD/SUD among the oppressed.

Limitations and Future Directions

This study is the first to examine the relationship between race and gender and PTSD/SUD and to explore the effects of how these matters are addressed in clinical spaces for oppressed groups. This novel study has several limitations, many of which are common to qualitative studies. First, our sample size was modest, which may lead to questions about the generalizability of our findings. However, this is the only study to our knowledge exploring these issues pertaining to PTSD/SUD, and qualitative research is meant to prioritize depth over breadth when uncovering relatively new phenomena. We did not necessarily aim to produce generalizable findings, but instead to provide a detailed and nuanced understanding of the experiences of oppressed groups as it related to PTSD/SUD to inform future research. By conducting 28 in-depth interviews, we gathered rich and detailed data that can be used to develop and inform future quantitative studies with larger samples. Additionally, despite a modest sample size, we achieved data saturation whereby data provided by participants and interpretations of that data converged over time, which ensured that our findings were comprehensive. Also, we interviewed participants across several states and three different geographic regions in the U.S. This allows us to be confident that our findings apply to more than one region or clinic setting.

Next, these interviews provided self-report and retrospective information, and participants' individual retrospective accounts may be inaccurate. However, participants across race and gender groups recalled many startlingly similar experiences related to oppression, discrimination, and treatment in clinical settings. In other words, participants' experiences are triangulated across interviews, enhancing our findings' credibility. However, future studies should interview therapists and clinic staff to determine their perspectives on how matters of race

and gender are relevant to PTSD/SUD, how they address these matters in treatment, and how they should assess their cultural competence.

Another limitation may be that participants have interpreted phenomena as raced and gendered, whereas clinic staff and clinicians would not. Conflicting interpretations may complicate these findings. However, as covered in the literature review, oppressed groups are often more aware of the dynamics of oppression and are more readily able to identify these dynamics. Our purpose was to build knowledge specifically from the interpretations of oppressed groups. As such, asking about their interpretations of these experiences is most appropriate.

Similarly, although we aimed to build knowledge from oppressed groups' perspectives, it is possible that our interpretations of their experiences and perspectives may be inaccurate. We used several strategies to combat this limitation. First, we created a research team with people with different identities and situatedness. Although one researcher carried out most interviews, the second researcher participated weekly in discussions about the interviews, helped write analytic memos, assisted with developing approximately 50% of codes, and helped construct categories from the themes. Additionally, we continuously reflected on and shared our biases and how they may influence the research (reflexivity). Finally, we shared our transcripts and interpretations of the data with participants as the study progressed. No participants disagreed with the interpretations, and all five who participated in member-checking (secondary) interviews concurred with our interpretations. However, despite this work, future research should conduct focus groups with participants from oppressed groups and allow them to discuss their shared/differing experiences and construct their meaning together rather than rely on researchers to construct meaning.

Moreover, future research should use mixed methods approaches and send quantitative surveys based on interview findings to clinic staff, clinicians, and clients of color in behavioral health settings to validate findings. Despite these limitations, this study was conceptually unique for the PTSD/SUD field and was rigorously undertaken. Qualitative research limitations were attended to and addressed. This research provides new directions for PTSD/SUD scholars to promote health equity.

Conclusion

Matters of oppression and discrimination are deeply woven into oppressed groups' PTSD/SUD incidence and exacerbate their symptoms. Oppressed groups are aware of the relationship between oppression, discrimination, and their PTSD/SUD and want to address these issues in therapy. Yet, when oppressed groups enter the clinic setting, they are made to feel unwelcome, and staff commit microaggressions that have the potential to aggravate PTSD/SUD symptoms further. Moreover, when oppressed groups engage in therapy and attempt to discuss matters of oppression or discrimination, their therapists often invalidate their experiences, and as a result, the therapeutic relationship is significantly ruptured. Members of oppressed groups begin seeking other therapists, vow not to discuss these issues with their therapists again or terminate treatment early. Sometimes, but less frequently, therapists validated participants' experiences with discrimination, which was an important first step in making participants feel comfortable bringing these issues up in therapy. However, participants often then had to spend significant time and energy educating their therapist about the dynamics of race and how and what discrimination looked like and did to them. This labor was intensive, and one participant terminated treatment with her therapist because each time she brought up issues with discrimination, she had to spend significant time educating her therapist about these issues. Because matters of oppression and discrimination are woven throughout oppressed groups' PTSD/SUD, clinics must enhance visible diversity in their clinics (e.g., in staff, posters, brochures) and make their environment welcoming for diverse groups(Buchanan & Greene, 2024; Buchanan & Wiklund, 2024). Further, staff and therapists must engage in cultural competence training to ensure their interactions with oppressed groups do not risk aggravating PTSD/SUD symptoms or causing people to cease engaging in therapy.

REFERENCES

- Amaral, E. F., Pollard, M. S., Mendelsohn, J., & Cefalu, M. (2018). Current and future demographics of the veteran population, 2014–2024. *Population Review*, *57*(1). https://doi.org/10.1353/prv.2018.0002
- Archer, J. (2006). Cross-cultural differences in physical aggression between partners: A social-role analysis. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, 10(2), 133-153. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327957pspr1002_3
- Aromin, R. A., Jr. (2016). Substance abuse prevention, assessment, and treatment for lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender youth. *Pediatric Clinics*, 63(6), 1057-1077. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcl.2016.07.007
- Back, S. E., & Jones, J. L. (2018). Alcohol use disorder and PTSD: An introduction. *Alcoholism, Clinical and Experimental Research*, 42(5), 836. https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.13619
- Baldwin, J. (1992). Nobody knows my name. Vintage.
- Beliso-De Jesús, A., & Pierre, J. (2020). Anthropology of white supremacy. *American Anthropologist*, 122(1), 65-75. https://doi.org/10.1111/aman.13351
- Bent-Goodley, T. B. (2009). A black experience-based approach to gender-based violence. *Social Work*, *54*(3), 262-269. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/54.3.262
- Bird, C. M., Webb, E. K., Schramm, A. T., Torres, L., Larson, C., & deRoon-Cassini, T. A. (2021). Racial discrimination is associated with acute posttraumatic stress symptoms and predicts future posttraumatic stress disorder symptom severity in trauma-exposed Black adults in the United States. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 34(5), 995-1004. https://doi.org/10.1002/jts.22670
- Blanco, C., Xu, Y., Brady, K., Pérez-Fuentes, G., Okuda, M., & Wang, S. (2013). Comorbidity of posttraumatic stress disorder with alcohol dependence among US adults: Results from national epidemiological survey on alcohol and related conditions. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *132*(3), 630-638. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.04.016
- Blight, D. W., & Gooding-Williams, R. (1997). The souls of black folk: WEB Du Bois. In: Boston: Bedford Books.
- Blume, A. W., Lovato, L. V., Thyken, B. N., & Denny, N. (2012). The relationship of microaggressions with alcohol use and anxiety among ethnic minority college students in a historically white institution. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, *18*(1), 45. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025457

- Breslau, N., Davis, G. C., & Schultz, L. R. (2003). Posttraumatic stress disorder and the incidence of nicotine, alcohol, and other drug disorders in persons who have experienced trauma. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 60(3), 289-294. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.60.3.289
- Buchanan, N. T., & Greene, B. (2024). Diagnosis and Assessment with Black Americans: Reducing bias and improving assessment outcomes (Accepted). In F. T. Leong, G. Bernal, & N. T. Buchanan (Eds.), *Clinical Psychology of Racial and Ethnic Minorities: Integrating Research and Practice*. American Psychological Association.
- Buchanan, N. T., Perez, M., Prinstein, M. J., & Thurston, I. B. (2021). Upending racism in psychological science: Strategies to change how science is conducted, reported, reviewed, and disseminated. *American Psychologist*, 76(7), 1097. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000905
- Buchanan, N. T., & Wiklund, L. O. (2020). Why clinical science must change or die: Integrating intersectionality and social justice. *Women & Therapy*, 43(3-4), 309-329. https://doi.org/10.1080/02703149.2020.1729470
- Buchanan, N. T., & Wiklund, L. O. (2024). Addressing Depression Disparities: The Potential of Intersectionality Theory and Praxis. (In Press). American Psychological Association.
- Burke, M., & Embrich, D. G. (2008). Colorism (Vol. 2).
- Center for Behavioral Health Statistics Quality [SAMHSA]. (2021). Racial/ethnic differences in substance use, substance use disorders, and substance use treatment utilization among people aged 12 or older (2015-2019).

 https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt35326/2021NSDUHSUChartbook102221B.pdf
- Cho, S., Crenshaw, K. W., & McCall, L. (2013). Toward a field of intersectionality studies: Theory, applications, and praxis. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, 38(4), 785-810.
- Collins, P. H. (1986). Learning from the outsider within: The sociological significance of Black feminist thought. *Social Problems*, *33*(6), s14-s32. https://doi.org/10.2307/800672
- Collins, P. H. (1990). Black feminist thought in the matrix of domination. In *Black Feminist Thought: Knowledge, Consciousness, and the Politics of Empowerment* (Vol. 138, pp. 221-238).
- Cowen, N. (2019). For whom does "what works" work? The political economy of evidence-based education. *Educational Research and Evaluation*, 25(1-2), 81-98. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1080/13803611.2019.1617991
- Crenshaw, K. (1991). Mapping the Margins: Intersectionality, Identity Politics, and Violence against Women of Color. *Stanford Law Review*, 43(6), 1241-1299. https://doi.org/10.2307/1229039

- del Río-González, A. M., Holt, S. L., & Bowleg, L. (2021). Powering and structuring intersectionality: Beyond main and interactive associations. *Research on Child and Adolescent Psychopathology*, 49(1), 33-37.
- Delgado, R., & Stefancic, J. (2023). Critical race theory: An introduction (Vol. 87). NYU press.
- Desalu, J. M., Goodhines, P. A., & Park, A. (2019). Racial discrimination and alcohol use and negative drinking consequences among Black Americans: A meta-analytical review. *Addiction*, 114(6), 957-967. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1111/add.14578
- Docter-Loeb, H. (2023). White men still hold majority of US science and engineering jobs. *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-023-00865-w
- Dotson, K. (2014). Conceptualizing epistemic oppression. *Social Epistemology*, 28(2), 115-138. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1080/02691728.2013.782585
- Du Bois, W. (1911). *The Souls of Black Folk: Essays and Sketches*. Oshun Publishing Company, Incorporated (October 12, 2013).
- Emerson, M. A., Moore, R. S., & Caetano, R. (2017). Association between lifetime posttraumatic stress disorder and past year alcohol use disorder among American Indians/Alaska Natives and non-Hispanic Whites. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 41(3), 576-584. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1111/acer.13322
- Erekson, D. M., Janis, R., Bailey, R. J., Cattani, K., & Pedersen, T. R. (2017). A longitudinal investigation of the impact of psychotherapist training: Does training improve client outcomes? *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 64(5), 514-524. https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000252
- Fani, N., Carter, S. E., Harnett, N. G., Ressler, K. J., & Bradley, B. (2021). Association of racial discrimination with neural response to threat in Black women in the US exposed to trauma. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 78(9), 1005-1012.
- Farahmand, P., Arshed, A., & Bradley, M. V. (2020). Systemic racism and substance use disorders. *Psychiatric Annals*, 50(11), 494-498. https://doi.org/10.3928/00485713-20201008-01
- Flückiger, C., Del Re, A. C., Wampold, B. E., & Horvath, A. O. (2018). The alliance in adult psychotherapy: A meta-analytic synthesis. *Psychotherapy*, *55*(4), 316-340. https://doi.org/10.1037/pst0000172
- Follingstad, D. R., Neckerman, A. P., & Vormbrock, J. (1988). Reactions to victimization and coping strategies of battered women: The ties that bind. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 8(4), 373-390. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0272-7358(88)90065-7
- Fricker, M. (2007). *Epistemic injustice: Power and the ethics of knowing*. Oxford University Press.

- Goldstein, R. B., Smith, S. M., Chou, S. P., Saha, T. D., Jung, J., Zhang, H., Pickering, R. P., Ruan, W. J., Huang, B., & Grant, B. F. (2016). The epidemiology of DSM-5 posttraumatic stress disorder in the United States: Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions-III. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 51(8), 1137-1148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-016-1208-5
- Gone, J. P., Hartmann, W. E., Pomerville, A., Wendt, D. C., Klem, S. H., & Burrage, R. L. (2019). The impact of historical trauma on health outcomes for Indigenous populations in the USA and Canada: A systematic review. *American Psychologist*, 74(1), 20-35. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000338
- Grant, B. F., Goldstein, R. B., Saha, T. D., Chou, S. P., Jung, J., Zhang, H., Pickering, R. P., Ruan, W. J., Smith, S. M., Huang, B., & Hasin, D. S. (2015). Epidemiology of DSM-5 alcohol use disorder: Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions III. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 72(8), 757-766. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.0584
- Green, J. G., McLaughlin, K. A., Fillbrunn, M., Fukuda, M., Jackson, J. S., Kessler, R. C., Sadikova, E., Sampson, N. A., Vilsaint, C., Williams, D. R., Cruz-Gonzalez, M., & Alegría, M. (2020). Barriers to mental health service use and predictors of treatment drop out: Racial/Ethnic variation in a [opulation-based study. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 47(4), 606-616. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10488-020-01021-6
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1994). Competing paradigms in qualitative research. In *Handbook of Qualitative Research*. (pp. 105-117). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How Many Interviews Are Enough?:An Experiment with Data Saturation and Variability. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 59-82. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822x05279903
- Haeny, A. M., Holmes, S. C., & Williams, M. T. (2021). The need for shared nomenclature on racism and related terminology in psychology. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 16(5), 886-892. https://doi.org/10.1177/17456916211000760
- Hall-Clark, B., Sawyer, B., Golik, A., & Asnaani, A. (2016). Racial/ethnic differences in symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder. *Current Psychiatry Reviews*, *12*(2), 124-138. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.2174/1573400512666160505150257
- Haraway, D. (1988). Situated knowledges: The science question in feminism and the privilege of partial perspective [research-article]. *Feminist Studies*, *14*(3), 575-599. https://doi.org/10.2307/3178066
- Harding, S. (1991). Whose Science? Whose Knowledge?: Thinking from Women's Lives. Cornell University Press.

- Harding, S. (1992). Rethinking standpoint epistemology: What is "strong objectivity?". *The Centennial Review*, *36*(3), 437-470. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780198751458.003.0016
- Harding, S. (2004). A socially relevant philosophy of science? Resources from standpoint theory's controversiality. *Hypatia*, 19(1), 25-47. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1527-2001.2004.tb01267.x
- Harding, S. (2006). Science and Social Inequality: Feminist and postcolonial issues. University of Illinois Press.
- Harding, S. G. (1986). The Science Question in Feminism. Cornell University Press.
- Hardy, K. V. (2022). *The Enduring, Invisible, and Ubiquitous Centrality of Whiteness*. WW Norton & Company.
- Harris, J. L. (2021). Black on Black: The Vilification of "Me-Search," Tenure, and the Economic Position of Black Sociologists. *Journal of Economics, Race, and Policy*, 4(2), 77-90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41996-020-00066-x
- Hartsock, N. (1983). The feminist standpoint: Developing the ground for a specifically feminist historical materialism. In S. Harding & M. B. Hintikka (Eds.), *Discovering Reality:* Feminist Perspectives on Epistemology, Metaphysics, Methodology, and Philosophy of Science (pp. 283-310). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-306-48017-4 15
- Hartsock, N. C. (2019). The Feminist Standpoint Revisited, and Other Essays. Routledge.
- Hofstra, B., Kulkarni, V. V., Munoz-Najar Galvez, S., He, B., Jurafsky, D., & McFarland, D. A. (2020). The diversity–innovation paradox in science. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117(17), 9284-9291. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1915378117
- Homan, P. (2019). Structural sexism and health in the United States: A new perspective on health inequality and the gender system. *American Sociological Review*, *84*(3), 486-516. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122419848723
- Hooks, B. (1989). Talking Back: Thinking feminist, thinking black. South End Press.
- Huberman, A. (2014). Qualitative Data Analysis a Methods Sourcebook.
- Huff, C. (2021). *Psychology's diversity problem*. American Psychological Association. Retrieved 9-May-2024 from https://www.apa.org/monitor/2021/10/feature-diversity-problem
- Hunnicutt, G. (2009). Varieties of patriarchy and violence against women: Resurrecting "patriarchy" as a theoretical tool. *Violence Against Women*, 15(5), 553-573. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801208331246

- Intemann, K. (2010). 25 years of feminist empiricism and standpoint theory: Where are we now? *Hypatia*, 25(4), 778-796. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1111/j.1527-2001.2010.01138.x
- Kena, G., Hussar, W., McFarland, J., De Brey, C., Musu-Gillette, L., Wang, X., Zhang, J., Rathbun, A., Wilkinson-Flicker, S., & Diliberti, M. (2016). *The Condition of Education 2016. NCES 2016.* https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2016/2016144.pdf
- Kessler, R. C., Rose, S., Koenen, K. C., Karam, E. G., Stang, P. E., Stein, D. J., Heeringa, S. G., Hill, E. D., Liberzon, I., & McLaughlin, K. A. (2014). How well can post-traumatic stress disorder be predicted from pre-trauma risk factors? An exploratory study in the WHO World Mental Health Surveys. *World Psychiatry*, *13*(3), 265-274. https://doi.org/10.1002/wps.20150
- Kirk, J., & Miller, M. L. (1986). Reliability and validity in qualitative research (Vol. 1). Sage.
- Knepper, T. C., & McLeod, H. L. (2018). When will clinical trials finally reflect diversity? *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/d41586-018-05049-5
- Kozlowski, D., Larivière, V., Sugimoto, C. R., & Monroe-White, T. (2022). Intersectional inequalities in science. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 119(2). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2113067119
- Krahé, B. (2018). Violence against women. *Current Opinion in Psychology*, 19, 6-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copsyc.2017.03.017
- Landau, I. (2008). Problems with feminist standpoint theory in science education. *Science & Education*, 17, 1081-1088. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-007-9131-5
- Lazaros, B., Vanesa, B., & John, P. A. I. (2022). Conducting umbrella reviews. *BMJ Medicine*, *I*(1), e000071. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjmed-2021-000071
- Lee, E., Tsang, A. K. T., Bogo, M., Johnstone, M., & Herschman, J. (2018). Enactments of racial microaggression in everyday therapeutic encounters. *Smith College Studies in Social Work*, 88(3), 211-236. https://doi.org/10.1080/00377317.2018.1476646
- Lester, K., Artz, C., Resick, P. A., & Young-Xu, Y. (2010). Impact of race on early treatment termination and outcomes in posttraumatic stress disorder treatment. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 78(4), 480. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0019551
- Linhares, L. V., Torres, A. R. R., de Lucena, A. K. V., & de Napolis, N. S. C. (2023). Blaming the Black Victim: the Victim's Skin Color and Belief in a Just World. *Trends in Psychology*, 31(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s43076-021-00134-7
- Lofgreen, A. M., Carroll, K. K., Dugan, S. A., & Karnik, N. S. (2017). An overview of sexual trauma in the U.S. military. *Focus*, *15*(4), 411-419. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.focus.20170024

- Longino, H. (2010). Feminist epistemology at Hypatia's 25th anniversary. *Hypatia*, 25(4), 733-741. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1527-2001.2010.01131.x
- Longino, H. E. (1989). Feminist critiques of rationality: Critiques of science or philosophy of science? Women's Studies International Forum
- Lund, M. (2022). Whiteness. MIT Press.
- Lykes, M. B., Lloyd, C. R., & Nicholson, K. M. (2018). Participatory and action research within and beyond the academy: Contesting racism through decolonial praxis and teaching "against the grain." *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 62(3-4), 406-418. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12290
- MacIntyre, M. M., Zare, M., & Williams, M. T. (2023). Anxiety-Related Disorders in the Context of Racism. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 25(2), 31-43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-022-01408-2
- Maxwell, J. A. (2012). Qualitative Research Design: An interactive approach. Sage publications.
- McGuire, T. G., & Miranda, J. (2008). New evidence regarding racial and ethnic disparities in mental health: policy implications. *Health Affairs*, 27(2), 393-403. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.27.2.393
- Mesok, E. (2016). Sexual violence and the US military: Feminism, US empire, and the failure of liberal equality. *Feminist Studies*, 42(1), 41-69. https://doi.org/10.1353/fem.2016.0017
- Morse, J. M. (2000). Determining Sample Size. *Qualitative Health Research*, 10(1), 3-5. https://doi.org/10.1177/104973200129118183
- Morse, J. M. (2015a). Analytic Strategies and Sample Size. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(10), 1317-1318. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315602867
- Morse, J. M. (2015b). "Data Were Saturated . . .". *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(5), 587-588. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315576699
- Mura, D. (2022). *The Stories Whiteness Tells Itself: Racial myths and our American narratives*. University of Minnesota Press.
- Myers, U. S., Browne, K. C., & Norman, S. B. (2015). Treatment engagement: Female survivors of intimate partner violence in treatment for PTSD and Alcohol Use Disorder. *Journal of Dual Diagnoses*, 11(3-4), 238-247. https://doi.org/10.1080/15504263.2015.1113762
- National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism [NIAAA]. (2020). *Alcohol Facts and Statistics*. Retrieved 15-Jan-23 from https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/publications/brochures-and-fact-sheets/alcohol-facts-and-statistics.
- National Library Of Medicine, N. (2020). Overview of VHA Patient, Veteran, and Non-Veteran Populations and Characteristics. Retrieved 19-Sept-23 from

- https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK578553/#:~:text=31.8%25%20ages%2045-64%2C,and%2018.2%25%20age%2065%2B).
- Patten, E., & Parker, K. (2011). Women in the US military: Growing share, distinctive profile. Pew Research Center Washington, DC. https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2011/12/22/women-in-the-u-s-military-growing-share-distinctive-profile/
- Pearson, C. R., Kaysen, D., Huh, D., & Bedard-Gilligan, M. (2019). Randomized control trial of culturally adapted cognitive processing therapy for PTSD, substance misuse, and HIV sexual risk behavior for Native American Women. *AIDS and Behavior*, *23*(3), 695-706. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-018-02382-8
- Pereira, M. d. M. (2017). Power, knowledge and feminist scholarship: An ethnography of academia. Taylor & Francis. https://www.routledge.com/Power-Knowledge-and-Feminist-Scholarship-An-Ethnography-of-Academia/doMarPereira/p/book/9780367233761
- Purdie-Vaughns, V., Steele, C. M., Davies, P. G., Ditlmann, R., & Crosby, J. R. (2008). Social identity contingencies: how diversity cues signal threat or safety for African Americans in mainstream institutions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *94*(4), 615-630. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.94.4.615.
- Reid, M. R., & Buchanan, N. T. (2024a). Structured by whiteness: Problems with the lack of racial diversity in co-occurring substance use and posttraumatic stress disorder research. *In Progress*.
- Reid, M. R., & Buchanan, N. T. (2024b). Systemic biases promoting the under-inclusion of marginalized groups in randomized controlled trials for co-occurring alcohol use and posttraumatic stress disorder: an intersectional analysis. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, 1-26. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2024.2367240
- Reid, M. R., Wentworth, C., Barnes-Najor, J., Smith, M., & Doberneck, D. (2023). Feminist community engagement disrupted: Pathways for engaging together during disruption. the National Engagement Scholarship Consortium, Michigan State University, MI.
- Roberts, A. L., Gilman, S. E., Breslau, J., Breslau, N., & Koenen, K. C. (2011). Race/ethnic differences in exposure to traumatic events, development of post-traumatic stress disorder, and treatment-seeking for post-traumatic stress disorder in the United States. *Psychological medicine*, 41(1), 71-83. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291710000401
- Roberts, H. (2013). *Doing feminist research*. Routledge.
- Roberts, S. O., Bareket-Shavit, C., Dollins, F. A., Goldie, P. D., & Mortenson, E. (2020). Racial inequality in psychological research: Trends of the past and recommendations for the future. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *15*(6), 1295-1309. https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691620927709

- Rolin, K. (2009). Standpoint theory as a methodology for the study of power relations. *Hypatia*, 24(4), 218-226. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1111/j.1527-2001.2009.01070.x
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2011). Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data. sage.
- Ruglass, L. M., Pedersen, A., Cheref, S., Hu, M. C., & Hien, D. A. (2016). Racial differences in adherence and response to combined treatment for full and subthreshold post-traumatic stress disorder and alcohol use disorders: A secondary analysis. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, 15(4), 434-448. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2015.1056927
- Sáez, G., Ruiz, M. J., Delclós-López, G., Expósito, F., & Fernández-Artamendi, S. (2020). The effect of prescription drugs and alcohol consumption on intimate partner violence victim blaming. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(13), 4747. https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/17/13/4747
- Sahker, E., Pro, G., Sakata, M., & Furukawa, T. A. (2020). Substance use improvement depends on race/ethnicity: outpatient treatment disparities observed in a large US national sample. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 213, 108087.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108087
- Saldana, J. (2021). The Coding Manual for Qualitative Researchers. SAGE.
- Settles, I. H., Jones, M. K., Buchanan, N. T., & Dotson, K. (2021). Epistemic exclusion: Scholar(ly) devaluation that marginalizes faculty of color. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, *14*(4), 493. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1037/dhe0000174
- Shalev, A., Liberzon, I., & Marmar, C. (2017). Post-traumatic stress disorder. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 376(25), 2459-2469. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1612499
- Shulman, B. J. (1994). Implications of feminist critiques of science for the teaching of mathematics and science. *Journal of Women and Minorities in Science and Engineering*, *1*(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1615/JWomenMinorScienEng.v1.i1.10
- Sibrava, N. J., Bjornsson, A. S., Pérez Benítez, A. C. I., Moitra, E., Weisberg, R. B., & Keller, M. B. (2019). Posttraumatic stress disorder in African American and Latinx adults: Clinical course and the role of racial and ethnic discrimination. *American Psychologist*, 74(1), 101. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000339
- Silverman, D. (2013). Doing Qualitative Research: A Practical Handbook. SAGE.
- Simpson, T. L., Rise, P., Browne, K. C., Lehavot, K., & Kaysen, D. (2019). Clinical presentations, social functioning, and treatment receipt among individuals with comorbid life-time PTSD and alcohol use disorders versus drug use disorders: Findings from NESARC-III. *Addiction*, 114(6), 983-993. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1111/add.14565
- Skewes, M. C., & Blume, A. W. (2019). Understanding the link between racial trauma and substance use among American Indians [doi:10.1037/amp0000331]. *American Psychologist*, 74, 88-100. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000331

- Smith, N. D. L., & Cottler, L. B. (2018). The epidemiology of post-traumatic stress disorder and alcohol use disorder. *Alcohol Research*, *39*(2), 113-120.
- Solorzano, D., Ceja, M., & Yosso, T. (2000). Critical Race Theory, Racial Microaggressions, and Campus Racial Climate: The Experiences of African American College Students. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 69(1/2), 60-73. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2696265
- Sprague, J. (2016). Feminist Methodologies for Critical Researchers: Bridging differences. Rowman & Littlefield.
- Stockman, J. K., Hayashi, H., & Campbell, J. C. (2015). Intimate Partner Violence and its Health Impact on Ethnic Minority Women [corrected]. *Journal of Womens Health*, 24(1), 62-79. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2014.4879
- Sue, D. W., Capodilupo, C. M., Torino, G. C., Bucceri, J. M., Holder, A., Nadal, K. L., & Esquilin, M. (2007). Racial microaggressions in everyday life: implications for clinical practice. *American Psychologist*, 62(4), 271.
- Sue, D. W., & Spanierman, L. (2020). Microaggressions in everyday life. John Wiley & Sons.
- Tanne, J. H. (2022). White male authors still dominate top academic medical publishing, two studies report. *BMJ*, *377*, o1044. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.o1044
- Toole, B. (2021). Recent work in standpoint epistemology. *Analysis*, 81(2), 338-350. https://doi.org/doi.org/10.1093/analys/anab026
- Williams, M. T., Cabral, V., & Faber, S. (2024). Psychedelics and Racial Justice. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 22(2), 880-896. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-023-01160-5
- Williams, M. T., Holmes, S., Zare, M., Haeny, A., & Faber, S. (2023). An evidence-based approach for treating stress and trauma due to racism. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice*, 30(4), 565-588. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpra.2022.07.001
- Williams, N. D., & Fish, J. N. (2020). The availability of LGBT-specific mental health and substance abuse treatment in the United States. *Health Services Research*, 55(6), 932-943. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13559
- Wylie, A. (2012). Feminist philosophy of science: Standpoint matters. Proceedings and Addresses of the American Philosophical Association,
- Yehuda, R. (2002). Post-traumatic stress disorder. *Nature*, *346*(2), 108-114. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2015.57
- Zuberi, T., & Bonilla-Silva, E. (2008). White logic, white methods: Racism and methodology. Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.